
           

SANDOVAL COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

  
 

SANDOVAL COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA

COMMISSION CHAMBERS
OCTOBER 19, 2017 - 6 P.M.

DON G. CHAPMAN
District 3, Chairman

  DAVID J. HEIL
District 4, Vice Chairman

  DR. JF.  HOLDEN-RHODES
District 1

  JAY C. BLOCK
District 2

  F. KENNETH EICHWALD
District 5

 
  DIANNE MAES

County Manager

           

1. CALL TO ORDER   

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   

 

3. INTRODUCTIONS & ANNOUNCEMENTS   

 

4. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC   

 

5. PRESENTATIONS & PROCLAMATIONS   

 

Requesting the Board of County Commissioners Proclaim the week of October 23 to
October 31, 2017 as Red Ribbon Week.
(Diana Lopez, Program Manager for Juvenile Justice)

 

6. APPROVAL OF AGENDA   

 

7. CONSENT AGENDA
(Dianne Maes, County Manager)

  

 

A. Approval of Minutes from the Regular Meeting of October 5, 2017
 

B. Approval of the following Budget Resolutions:

(1) No. 10-19-17.B(1) / Senior Program Various Budgets / Increase Budgets to Reflect
the Total Approved Funding for Current Fiscal Year / $27,205

(2) No. 10-19-17.B(2) / DWI Department Budgets / Reduce Budgets to Reflect
Reduction in Funding from the NM Department Finance and Administration for Current
Fiscal Year / ($12,000)



(3) No. 10-19-17.B(3) / Emergency Services Department Budgets / Increase Budget to
Reflect Actual Funding Awarded from the EMS Bureau and Department of
Health EMS Fund Act Local System Improvement Project / $26,542

(4) No. 10-19-17.B(4) / Senior Program Budget / Increase Budget to Reflect One Time
Incentive Funds Approved for Current Fiscal Year / $6,626

(5) No. 10-19-17.B(5) / Legislative Budget / Increase Budget to Reflect Capital
Appropriations Funding from the NM Aging and Long-Term Services Department for
Meals Equipment for Placitas Community/Senior Center / $5,700  

 

C. Approval of the  State of New Mexico Aging and Long-Term Services Department
Contract for Legislative Capital Outlay Funding for the Bernalillo Senior Center/
$480,000.

 

D. Approval to Surplus One (1) 2008 Ford Econoline Club Wagon (VIN#
1FBSS31L6WHB68494) and Approve Title Transfer to the City of Rio Rancho in
Exchnage for a 2008 Protrak 31" Gooseneck Trailer (VIN# 5BNDG31246W001329).

 

8. DIVISION OF PLANNING & ZONING
(Michael Springfield, Director)

  

 

A. Request for a Motion to Adopt Ordinance Number 10-19-17.8A  Approving the Oil and
Gas Ordinance.

 

B. Motion to Appoint Mr. Peter Adang  (District 1) to the  Planning and Zoning
Commission for the remainder of a (2) year term expiring April 30, 2019 . 

 

9. OFFICE OF THE COUNTY MANAGER
(Dianne Maes, County Manager)

  

 

A. Request for a Motion to Adopt Resolution. No 10-19-17.9A Declaring the Intent of the
Board of County Commissioners Authorize the Issuance of the Sandoval County, New
Mexico Energy Efficiency Lease-Purchase Agreement, with the Intent to Guarantee
Utility Savings Contract and Escrow Agreement.

 

B. Request for a Motion to Adopt Resolution No. 10-19-17.9B Establishing the
Legislative Policy and Capital/Funding Requests for Sandoval County.

 

10. OFFICE OF THE COUNTY CLERK
(Bernice Chavez, Bureau of Elections Manager)

  

 

Request for a Motion to Adopt Resolution No. 10-19-17.10  Designating the Polling
Places for the 2018 Primary and General Elections

 

11. DIVISION OF PUBLIC WORKS
(Tommy Mora, Jr., Director)

  

 



Approval to Publish and Post the  Environmental Solid Waste Ordinance Amending
Ordinance No. 03-11-16.16A to Accept Household Waste Collections in the
Unincorporated Areas of Sandoval County.

 

12. COMMENTS FROM THE COMMISSIONERS   

 

13. ADJOURN   

 

 



Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Item Summary

   
Regular Meeting
Meeting Date: 10/19/2017  
Requestor: Sharon Torres, Community Services
Commissioner Sponsored: No  
District: N/A - Not Commissioner Sponsored
Agenda: Proclamation

Information
Action Requested:
Requesting the Board of County Commissioners Proclaim the week of October 23 to
October 31, 2017 as Red Ribbon Week.
(Diana Lopez, Program Manager for Juvenile Justice)

Why Action Is Necessary (Summary):
The Red Ribbon Campaign will be on October 23 to October 31, 2017.  This campaign will promote
family and individual responsibility for healthy living, drug free lifestyles, without illegal drugs or the use of
illegal drugs.  Events have been scheduled throughout Sandoval County.

Recommendations:
Approve the Proclamation for Red Ribbon Week -October 23 to October 31, 2017.

Recommended Approval:
 

Department
Director/Elected

Official

Attorney
As to Form

County
Manager

Other

AR
10/06/17

HRS
10/9/17

DM
11/12/17 ----------

Attachments
Proclamation Red Ribbon Campaign 
Red Ribbon Events Schedule 



 

PROCLAMATION 

By 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF SANDOVAL COUNTY 

 
 

Red Ribbon Week – October 23, 2017 – October 31, 2017 
 

 
WHEREAS, the Red Ribbon Week Campaign theme promotes family and individual 

responsibilities for living healthy, drug-free lifestyles, without illegal drugs or the illegal 
use of legal drugs; and  
 
 

WHEREAS, success will not occur overnight, our patience and continued 
commitment to drug and alcohol education and prevention are imperative; and  
 
 

WHEREAS, Sandoval County residents can influence positive change through 
participation in Substance Abuse Prevention activities; and 
 
 

WHEREAS, business, government, parents, law enforcement, media, medical 
institutions, religious institutions, schools, senior citizens, service organizations, an d youth 
will demonstrate their commitment to healthy, drug-free lifestyles by wearing and 
displaying red ribbons during this week-long campaign; and 
 
 

WHEREAS, there are many activities planned during the Red Ribbon Week 
Campaign at various schools in Sandoval County, including but not limited to The ASK 
Academy in Rio Rancho, Bernalillo Middle School and Independence High School in Rio 
Rancho, NM. 
 
 

WHEREAS, Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners urges all citizens, 
parents, governmental agencies, public and private institutions, businesses, hospitals, 
schools and colleges in Sandoval County to support efforts that will increase community 
awareness, understanding and action to address Drug Abuse in our community; and 
 



THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED the governing body of Sandoval County, the 
Board of County Commissioners in recognition of all Substance Abuse Prevention efforts, 
do hereby designate October 23, 2017 – October 31, 2017 as 2017 RED RIBBON WEEK. 
 
DONE AT BERNALILLO, NEW MEXICO, COUNTY OF SANDOVAL, THIS 19th DAY OF 
OCTOBER 2017. 

 
 

 
 

 
                                                                                                                                                 

  
                                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                                                                                
                                                                                                                                                  
                                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                                                                                  
                                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                                                                                  
 

               
 

 

Attest: 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Eileen Garbagni, County Clerk 
 

 
Approved As To Form: 
 
 
______________________________________ 
County Attorney 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF SANDOVAL COUNTY 
 

____________________________________________ 
Don G. Chapman, Chairman 
 
 

____________________________________________ 
David J. Heil, Vice Chair 
 
 

____________________________________________ 
Dr. James F. Holden-Rhodes, Member 
 
 

____________________________________________ 
Jay C. Block, Member 
 
 

____________________________________________ 
F. Kenneth Eichwald, Member 







Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners

   
Regular Meeting
Meeting Date: 10/19/2017  
Requestor: Anne Brady, Clerk's Office
Item: Minutes

Information
Summary:
Approval of Minutes from the Regular Meeting of October 5, 2017

Attachments
October 5, 2017 Reguar Meeting 



 
 

 

 

           SANDOVAL COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
                    REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
         COMMISSION CHAMBERS 
         OCTOBER 5, 2017 – 6 P.M. 
 
 
1.      CALL TO ORDER 

      Chairman Chapman called meeting to order at 6:02 p.m. Present were Chairman  
Chapman, Vice Chairman Heil, Commissioner Eichwald, Commissioner Block, 
Commissioner Holden Rhodes.  

  
2.    PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Pledge of Allegiance was led by Chairman Chapman 

 
3.    INTRODUCT IONS & ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Chairman Chapman stated the Board of Commissioners met in a closed session 

earlier in the day and requested a motion to come out of closed se ssion. 

Commissioner Heil motion. Second by Commissioner Block. Chief Deputy Anne Brady 

called for vote. Motion passed. Vote was unanimous.  

  Commissioner Block introduced Jim Warner. 

Asked about the tie, October is Breast Cancer Awareness month. My mother who was 

very dear to my heart passed from Breast Cancer.  
Also involved in Storehouse West in Rio Rancho (Socktober) Storehouse West is in need 

of Donations. Items you can donate would be helpful. 
Commissioner Block asked for a moment of silence for the Tragic shooting in Las Vegas, 

Nevada, and for Lisa Romero Nunez. She was a Mother and a school teacher.  

Commissioner Chapman introduced City Councilor Cheryl Evertt and Association of 

Counties Santiago Chavez. 
 

4     COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 

Several interested spoke about the Right to Work subject. 

 
County Treasurer, Laura Montoya, requested the County Commission to look at the 

Ethics document that was drafted and the way it was formulated.  

 

 
5.   APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Commissioner Block made a motion to approve, Second by Commissioner 
Heil. Deputy Clerk Anne Brady called for vote. Motion passed. Vote was 
unanimous. 
 

             6   CONSENT AGENDA 

(Dianne Maes, County Manager) 

Commissioner Heil motioned to approve, second by Commissioner Block. Vote 

was called by Chief Deputy Clerk, Anne Brady. Motion passed. Vote was 
unanimous. 



 
 

a. Approval of Minutes from the Regular Meeting of September 21, 2017 

Commissioner Heil motion to approve, second by Commissioner Block. Vote was 

called by Chief Deputy Clerk, Anne Brady. Motion passed. Vote was unanimous. 

 
b. Approval of the Juvenile Justice Continuum Grant Application for FY 

2018-2019 with NM Children, Youth and Families DepartmenU $209,500.00. 

Commissioner Heil volunteered. Commissioner Block made a motion to              
approve, second by Commissioner Holden Rhodes. Vote was called by Chief 

Deputy Anne Brady. Motion passed. Vote was unanimous.  

 

 
7.  OFFICE OF THE COUNTY MANAGER               
     (Dianne Maes, County Manager) 

A. Request for a Motion to Ratify Nominees from the BOCC to serve on the 
North Central New Mexico Economic Development District Board of 
Directors and 

Instruct the County Manager to Inform Pertinent Agency of the 

Ratified Member.  
County Manager Dianne Maes is requesting a representative from 

Sandoval County held by former Commissioner James Dominguez. 

Commissioners now need to appoint or vote for a representative. 

Commissioner Eichwald has volunteered to represent Sandoval County in 

that capacity. Commissioner Block motion to approve, Commissioner 

Holden Rhodes second the motion. Chief Deputy Clerk Anne Brady. 

Motion passed. Vote was unanimous. 

 

 

B. Request for a Motion to Allow the Board of County Commission 
to Discuss and Approve the New Mexico Association of 
Counties Resolution No. 10-5-17-7B in Support of their 2018 
Legislative Policies. 
Representative Santiago Chavez from NMAC,stating that some 
Municipalities asked to opt-out and do not want Elections done 
through the Counties because of the cost.  
Commissioner Chapman stated that elections should be left the 
same and am voting no on this. 
Commissioner Heil motion to approve, second by 
Commissioner Block. Chief Deputy Anne Brady called the vote. 
Motion passed. Commissioner Chapman voted no.



 
      8.      SANDOVAL COUNTY COMMISSION 

(David Heil, Vice Chairman) 

 

A. Request for a Motion to Adopt Resolution No.10-05-17.BA, Authorizing the New 

Mexico State Transportation Commission to Consider Designating New Mexico 

347/ Paseo Del Volcan as the Pete V. Domenici Boulevard. 

Commissioner Heil read  Resolution, requesting for Sandoval County to consider 
designating New Mexico 347 Paseo Del Volcan as the Pete V. Domenici Boulevard. 
Commissioner Heil moved approval of resolution. Second by Commissioner Eichwald. 

Chief Deputy Anne Brady called the vote. Motion passed. Motion was unanimous.  

 
B. Request for a Motion to Discuss the Proposed Right to Work Ordinance. 

Several residents spoke on the Right to Work Ordinance. 

 
       9.     CLOSED SESSION 

            A.   To Discuss Detention Center Collective Bargaining Pursuant to NMSA 1978 Section                        

 10-15-1(H)(5).                                                                               

 Chairman requested a motion to go into closed session to discuss Detention 

Center Collective Bargaining Pursuant to NMSA 1978 Section 10-15-1 (H)(5) 

             B   To Discuss Threatened Litigation Regarding the Right to Work Ordinance in                   

 Accordance with the Open Meetings Act, NMSA 1978, Section 10-15-1(H)(7),  

    Which Provides an Exception to the Requirements of the Open Meetings Act  

 For Attorney-Client Privileged Communication Pertaining to Threatened or  

 Pending Litigation.  

Commissioner Chapman motion to go into closed session at 8:48 p.m.to 
discuss threatened litigation regarding the right to work ordinance in 

accordance with the Open Meetings Act, which provides an exception to 
the requirements of the Open Meetings Act for Attorney-Client Privileged 
Communication Pertaining to Threatened or Pending Litigation and to 
discuss the Detention Center Collective Bargaining Pursuant to NMSA 

1978 Section 10-15-1(H)(5) 
Commissioner Chapman motion to come back into session at 9:40p.m. 
Commissioner Heil second the motion. Chief Deputy Anne Brady called 

the vote. Motion passed. Motion was unanimous. 
The matters in the closed meeting were limited only to those specified in 
the motion for closure. 

  
10. COMMENTS FROM THE COMMISSIONERS 

Commissioner Block spoke about the disagreement of the remarks that were stated 

by Commissioner Holden Rhodes towards teachers and nationalities. 

Asked County Manager about the task force that is being worked on. 

Potential amendments in regards to the Oil and Gas ordinance. Director Springfield 

from Planning and Zoning states that items stated will be on the Meeting of the 19
th
 

of October only because they can discuss if they wish but cannot motion on the Oil 

and Gas ordinance. 



Commissioner Chapman stated he met on October 4, with the Representatives 

from the Pueblo of San Felipe.  Discussion was on Encroachments, Better 

Communication, Publized meetings on Oil and Gas, and Jurisdication. 

Commissioner Chapman stated he wants to receive an agenda for the next Tribal 

meeting. 

Commissioner Eichwald stated he attended a meeting with County Sheriff’s 

representative at San Felipe Pueblo about Highway 313. 

 

 
10. ADJOURN 

Meeting adjourned at 10:01 p.m. 



Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Item Summary

   
Regular Meeting
Meeting Date: 10/19/2017  
Requestor: Mary Jo Trujillo, Administration

Information
Summary:
Approval of the following Budget Resolutions:

(1) No. 10-19-17.B(1) / Senior Program Various Budgets / Increase Budgets to Reflect
the Total Approved Funding for Current Fiscal Year / $27,205

(2) No. 10-19-17.B(2) / DWI Department Budgets / Reduce Budgets to Reflect Reduction
in Funding from the NM Department Finance and Administration for Current Fiscal Year
/ ($12,000)

(3) No. 10-19-17.B(3) / Emergency Services Department Budgets / Increase Budget to
Reflect Actual Funding Awarded from the EMS Bureau and Department of Health EMS
Fund Act Local System Improvement Project / $26,542

(4) No. 10-19-17.B(4) / Senior Program Budget / Increase Budget to Reflect One Time
Incentive Funds Approved for Current Fiscal Year / $6,626

(5) No. 10-19-17.B(5) / Legislative Budget / Increase Budget to Reflect Capital
Appropriations Funding from the NM Aging and Long-Term Services Department for
Meals Equipment for Placitas Community/Senior Center / $5,700  

Attachments
2017 Budget Resolutions (5) 

















Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Item Summary

   
Regular Meeting
Meeting Date: 10/19/2017  
Requestor: Denise King, Community Services
Commissioner Sponsored: No  
District: N/A - Not Commissioner Sponsored
Agenda: Consent

Information
Action Requested:
Approval of the  State of New Mexico Aging and Long-Term Services Department
Contract for Legislative Capital Outlay Funding for the Bernalillo Senior Center/
$480,000.

Why Action Is Necessary (Summary):
Signature of approval is required to execute the ALTSD contract for the parking lot for
the new Bernalillo Senior Center.

Recommendations:
Signature of the ALTSD contract is requested.

Recommended Approval:
 

Department
Director/Elected

Official

Attorney
As to Form

Finance
Budget

County
Manager

Other

AR
10/10/17

HRS
10/10/17

CCH
10/10/17

DM
10/10/17

JR
10-10-17

 

Fiscal Impact
Budgeted? Y/N: Y
Fiscal Year: 2018 
Source of Funding: State of NM ALTSD

Attachments
State of NM ALTSD 





























Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Item Summary

   
Regular Meeting
Meeting Date: 10/19/2017  
Requestor: Roseanne Varela, Public Works
Commissioner Sponsored: No  
District: N/A - Not Commissioner Sponsored
Agenda: Consent

Information
Action Requested:
Approval to Surplus One (1) 2008 Ford Econoline Club Wagon (VIN#
1FBSS31L6WHB68494) and Approve Title Transfer to the City of Rio Rancho in
Exchnage for a 2008 Protrak 31" Gooseneck Trailer (VIN# 5BNDG31246W001329).

Why Action Is Necessary (Summary):
The City of Rio Rancho no longer utilizes the trailer due to it not being able to meet
current operational needs and is in need of a 10 seat passenger van for parts to repair
their van which is used in the Parks, Recreation and Community Services department for
the summer youth program. The county is in need of a trailer to use as an additional
transport of heavy equipment for the maintenance department.

Recommendations:
Recommend approval to surplus One (1) 2008 Ford Econoline Van (VIN#
1FBSS31L6WHB68494)

Recommended Approval:
 

Department
Director/Elected

Official

Attorney
As to Form

County
Manager

Other

TM
10/11/17

HRS
10/11/17

DM
10/11/17 ----------

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Item Summary

   
Regular Meeting
Meeting Date: 10/19/2017  
Requestor: Makita Hill, Planning & Zoning
Commissioner Sponsored: Yes  
District: District 3
Agenda: 

Information
Action Requested:
Request for a Motion to Adopt Ordinance Number 10-19-17.8A  Approving the Oil and
Gas Ordinance.

Why Action Is Necessary (Summary):
At the September 21, 2017 Regular Meeting, the Board of County Commissioners
approved publication of the Oil and Gas Ordinance Draft Title and General Summary. 
Publication of the Oil and Gas Ordinance Draft Title and Summary is required by State
Statute for a minimum of 15 days prior to the date of the scheduled Regular Meeting at
which time the Board of County Commissioners may consider a Motion to Adopt the
Draft Ordinance.  By the October 19, 2017 Board of County Commission Regular
Meeting, the required publication period for the Oil and Gas Ordinance Draft Title and
General Summary will be fulfilled.

Recommendations:
Staff recommends that the Board of County Commissioners Adopt the Oil and Gas
Ordinance.

Recommended Approval:
 

Department
Director/Elected

Official

Attorney
As to Form

County
Manager

Other

MRS
10/11/17

HRS
10/11/17

DM
10/12/17 ----------

Attachments
Oil and Gas Journal Notice 
ORDINANCE NO. 10-19-17.8A 



LEGAL NOTICE OF MEETING TO ADOPT COMPREHENSIVE ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS NOTICE is 

hereby given that the Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners will meet on Thursday October 19, 2017 at 

6:00 P.M. for the purpose of considering the adoption of legislative amendments to the Comprehensive Zoning 

Ordinance. The meeting to adopt these proposed legislative amendments to the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance 

will take place in the Sandoval County Administration Building, 1500 Idalia Road Building D, Bernalil lo, New Mexico. 
General Summary of the Proposed Amendment to the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance: The legislative 

amendments to the Zoning Ordinance will be considered for adoption by the Board of County Commissioners 

pursuant to Section 19 (A) of the Sandoval County Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance. AN ORDINANCE, AMENDING 

ORDINANCE NO. 10-11-18.7A COMPREHENSIVE ZONING ORDINANCE OF SANDOVAL COUNTY, FOR THE 

SURFACE LAND REGULATION OF OIL AND GAS ACTIVITIES; ESTABLISHING DESIGN AND OPERATIONAL 

STANDARDS FOR OIL AND GAS FACILITIES; AND FURTHER PROVIDING FOR VARIANCES, RELIEF, 

APPEALS, THE ENFORCEMENT OF THIS ORDINANCE AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS. Members of the 

public are invited to attend the meeting. Persons who are unable to attend may submit their concerns in wr iting to the 

Sandoval County Planning & Zoning Division either in person at 1500 Idalia Road Building D, Bernalillo, NM or by 
mail to P.O. Box 40, Bernalillo, NM 87004. The proposed Ordinance is available electronically on the Sandoval 

County website: www.SandovalCountyNM.Gov (Follow the links under "Depts. & Divisions" to "Planning & Zoning", 

scroll down to "Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance Legislative Draft Posted 09/17" and double click to open the 

document.) Copies of the proposed Ordinance amendments are available to interested persons upon request for free 

inspection and/or purchase for a reasonable charge in the Sandoval County Planning & Zoning Division during 

normal and regular business hours. For additional information, please call the Planning & Zon ing Division at (505) 

867-7628. Please note that, in order to assure consideration by the Board of County Commissioners of written 

materials regarding this matter, such materials must be submitted to the Sandoval County Administrative Office (attn: 

Maria Encinias, Executive Asst.) no later than seventy-two (72) hours prior to the hearing time listed above. Journal: 
October 1, 2017 



 

 1 

 
 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 
ORDINANCE NO. 10-19-17.8A 

 

AN ORDINANCE, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 10-11-18.7A  COMPREHENSIVE 
ZONING ORDINANCE OF SANDOVAL COUNTY, FOR THE SURFACE LAND 

REGULATION OF OIL AND GAS ACTIVITIES; ESTABLISHING DESIGN AND 
OPERATIONAL STANDARDS FOR OIL AND GAS FACILITIES; AND FURTHER 
PROVIDING FOR VARIANCES, RELIEF, APPEALS, THE ENFORCEMENT OF THIS 

ORDINANCE AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SANDOVAL 
COUNTY, NEW MEXICO: 

 

 
ARTICLE 1. 

GENERAL. 
 
1.1. Short Title. This Ordinance shall be officially cited as the “Sandoval County Oil and 

Gas Ordinance”. 
  
1.2. Statutory Authority. This ordinance is promulgated pursuant to the police powers 

of Sandoval County and to protect County residents from potential and foreseeable 
nuisances (moved from Section 1.3).  The Sandoval County Board of County 

Commissioners (the “Commission”) is authorized to adopt this ordinance pursuant to 
NMSA 1978, Section 3-2-1 et seq., and NMSA 1978 Section 4-37-9 et. seq. 

 
1.3. Conflicts. Sandoval County (“the County”) is the primary authority of surface land 

development within the County’s planning and zoning jurisdiction. The County 

recognizes the primary authority of various other state and federal agencies to regulate 
oil and gas operations and development and their role balancing and protecting the 

interests of mineral interest owners, protecting correlative rights, and overseeing 
subsurface activities related to oil and gas resource development and extraction. Should 
a conflict arise between any provision of this ordinance and any state or federal law or 

regulation, the County shall defer to the authority of state and federal agencies. 
 
1.4. State and Federal Preemption.  This Ordinance does not replace, alter or amend 

any Federal and State statutes applicable to the oil and gas industry, including but not 

limited to the statutes listed below.  To the extent this regulation conflicts with any 

federal or state statute or regulation, this ordinance is preempted and the applicable 

federal or state statute or regulation shall control.  This list includes, but is not limited to: 

 

  



 

 2 

(A) The Surface Owners Protection Act, N.M.S.A. 1978, §§ 70-12-1 et. seq.; 

(B) The Oil and Gas Act, N.M.S.A. 1978, §§ 70-2-1 et seq.; 

(C) The Water Quality Act, N.M.S.A. 1978, §§ 74-6-1 et seq.; 

(D) The Solid Waste Act, N.M.S.A. 1978, §§ 74-9-1 et seq.; 

(E) The Rangeland Protection Act, N.M.S.A. 1978, §§ 76-7B-1 et seq.; 

(F) The Emergency Planning and Community Right To Know Act, 42 U.S.C.A. §§ 

11001et seq.; 

(G) The New Mexico Public Health Act, N.M.S.A. 1978 §§ 24-1-1 et seq.; 

(H) The Wildlife Conservation Act, N.M.S.A. 1978, §§ 17-2-37 et seq.; 

(I)  The Cultural Properties Act, N.M.S.A. 1978, §§ 18-6-1 et seq.; 

(J) The National Historic Preservation Act, 16 U.S.C.A §§ 470 et seq.; 

(K) The Uniform Trade Secret Act N.M.S.A. 1978, §§ 57-3A-1 et seq.; 

(L) The Prehistoric and Historic Sites Act, N.M.S.A. 1978, §§18-8-1 et seq.; 

(M) The Cultural Properties Protection Act, N.M.S.A. 1978, §§ 1 8-6A- 1 et seq.; 

(N) The Archaeological Resources Protection Act, 16 U.S.C.A. § 470 aa et seq.; and 

(O) The Energy Policy Act, 42 U.S.C.A. § 6201 et. seq. 

(P)  The Clean Water Act 33 U.S.C.A  §1251 et seq. ; and 

(Q)  The Occupational Safety and Health Act, 1970, U.S.C.A. 651 et seq. 

(R)  The New Mexico Night Sky Protection Act, N.M.S.A. 1978, 74-12-1 through 74-12-

11. 

 
ARTICLE 2. 
DEFINITIONS. 

 
2.1. Incorporation by Reference. For purposes of defining the terms used in this 

Ordinance, the County hereby adopts the definitions used by the New Mexico Oil 

Conservation Division, which are provided in 19.15.2.7 NMAC. 
 
ARTICLE 3. 

ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT. 
 

3.1. Amending Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance.  The Sandoval County Board of 

County Commissioners hereby amends Ordinance No. 10-11-18.7A, Comprehensive 
Zoning Ordinance of Sandoval County, to establish Oil and Gas exploration and 

production, and the structures and facilities associated with that use, as a Permissive 
use within Section 9 (1). RRA – Rural Residential Agricultural District, and to remove 

this use from Section 10.  SU – Special Use District.  
  



 

 3 

ARTICLE 4.   
PERMIT REVIEW. 

 

4.1 . The County hereby establishes a Permit review procedure for applications for oil 

and gas exploration and production, and the structures and facilities associated with 
that use.  Approval of a request for a Permit for oil and/or gas facilities shall be granted 

by the Director upon satisfactory provision by the applicant of all the requirements 
established in this Ordinance as stated in ARTICLE V. 
 

4.2.  Each permit shall authorize the drilling of only one (1) well as identified by its 

API well number.  For the purposes of this Ordinance, a “well” is defined as a boring 

into the earth that is designed to bring petroleum hydrocarbons to the surface. 

 

4.3.  When a permit has been issued for the drilling of a well, such permit shall 

constitute sufficient authority for drilling, operation, production and for the 

construction and gathering lines and discharge by the permittee and its employees, 
agent and contractors.  

 

4.4.  It is unlawful and an offense for any person acting either for himself or herself 

or acting as agent, employee, independent contractor or servant for any person to 
knowingly drill any well within the County and jurisdiction of this chapter wi thout a 

well drilling permit.  

 

ARTICLE 5. 
PERMIT APPLICATION. Prior to commencing drilling, deepening or re-entry 

operations, commencing an additional lateral, plugging a well back to a different pool, or 

completing or re-completing a well in an additional pool, an operator is required to 
provide the County the following information: 

 
5.1.  Applicant Information.  The name and contact information of (i) operator and any  

contractors known as of the date of the Application and (ii) property owner(s) and (iii) 

lease owner(s) and mineral rights owner(s).  The County shall be notified if any changes 
to the applicant information occurs.   For the purposes of this Ordinance, “applicant” is 

defined as surface land owner, mineral rights owner, and/or operator who applies for a 
Permit. 
 

5.2 .  An approved NMOCD C-101 and C-102 APD (Application for Permit to Drill) for  
exploration activities.  An approved NMOCD Oil and Gas Form C-104 (Request for 

Allowable and Authorization to Transport) from the NMOCD shall be submitted to the 
County prior to commencement of production activities. 
 

5.3.Scope of Operations.  A brief description of the scope of operations contemplated 

by the operator, including the estimated depth of each proposed well and the estimated 
commencement date of the operations. 

 



 

 4 

5.4.  Site Plan.  The proposed site plan for the well(s), including the proposed location  

and routing of any gathering lines, and a diagram of the permanent location/footprint. 

 
5.5.  Property Details.  The legal property description and a map or plat depicting  (i) the 

location of the proposed well and/or facility equipment, (ii) occupied dwellings, schools, 
churches, hospitals, or cemeteries within seven hundred fifty (750) feet for a single well, 
and seven hundred fifty (750) feet of each well, (iii) fresh water supply wells and 

subsurface fresh water storage reservoirs within seven hundred fifty (750) feet of the 
proposed well(s), and (iv) seven hundred fifty (750) feet distance of the proposed well 

from any public roads.  
 

5.6.  Noise Control Plan. Estimate the noise levels from expected operations requiring 

notice, which shall not exceed sixty (60) decibels as measured from a distance of seven 
hundred fifty (750) feet from the well or associated operations, including noise from 

traffic, and describe the manner in which operator intends to limit the noise levels 
associated with such operations below that threshold.  Noise levels may exceed sixty 
(60) decibels, up to eighty (80) decibels, for a period of time not to exceed thirty (30) 

calendar days for each calendar year.  
 
5.7.  Road Plan. The applicant shall submit an Oil and Gas road route plan that 

identifies adequate roads for oil and gas related truck traffic for exploration and 
production. The Planning and Zoning Division Director or designee shall convey the 

Road Plan to the Public Works Department Director or designee for review, and may 
revise as needed.  The Public Works Department Director or designee may require 

modification of affected County roads consistent with County Standards prior to 
utilization by the Applicant.  The Public Works Department Director or designee shall 
issue a determination to accept or deny the Road Plan within 30 days.  The applicant 

may file for a Variance on the determination of the Public Works Director or designee to 
the Planning and Zoning Commission. 

 

In the event that the Public Works Department Director or designee does not provide a 
determination on the submitted Road Plan to the applicant within 30 days, via electronic 

email and/or certified mail/return receipt, the Road Plan shall be deemed approved. 
 

5.8.  Emergency Response Plan. The applicant shall submit an Emergency Response 

Plan identifying all fire, police, and emergency response services in the County that are 
closest to the well site as well as a description of standard operating procedures, 

including applicable health, safety and environment protocols, used by the operator in 
the event of emergencies.  The Emergency Response Plan must include a section for 
fire protection and when the permittee will call emergency responders.  The Planning 

and Zoning Division Director or designee shall convey the Emergency Response Plan 
to the Fire Department Fire Chief or designee for review, and may revise as needed.  

The Fire Department Fire Chief or designee shall issue a determination to accept or 
deny the Emergency Response Plan within 30 days.  The applicant may file for a 
Variance on the determination of the Fire Department Fire Chief or designee to the 

Planning and Zoning Commission. 
 



 

 5 

In the event that the Fire Department Fire Chief or designee does not provide a 
determination on the submitted Emergency Response Plan to the applicant within 30 

days, via electronic email and/or certified mail/return receipt, the Emergency Response 
Plan shall be deemed approved. 

 
5.9.  Proof of Bond. Certify the OCD’s financial assurance requirements, as set forth in 

19.15.5 NMAC, have been satisfied. 

 
5.10.  SOPA Certification.  Certify that it will comply with the requirements of the 

Surface Owner Protection Act as enforced by the New Mexico Oil Conservation Division 
pursuant to NMSA 1978, § 70-12-1 (2007). 
 
5.11.  Air Quality Certification.  Certify that it will comply with the requirements of the Air 

Quality Control Act as enforced by the New Mexico Environment Department’s Air 

Quality Bureau pursuant to NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1. 
 
5.12.  Water Protection Certification.  The applicant shall certify that it will comply with 

the requirements of OCD and NMED concerning the protection of water, will provide 
estimates on how much water is to be used, the type of water to be used, where the 

water is planned to be sourced, and the applicant shall take reasonable measures 
necessary to avoid the pollution of surface water, ground water, and the use of 
nonpotable water wherever possible. 

 
ARTICLE 6. 

DRILLING REQUIREMENTS. 
 
6.1. Light Direction. To the extent practicable, site lighting shall be directed downward 

and internally to avoid glare on public roads and buildings within seven hundred fifty 
(750) feet of the drill site.  

 
6.2. Color of Well Site Structures. Oil and gas facilities observable from any public 

highway shall, to the extent reasonably practicable, be visually harmonious with the 

surrounding environment and painted with uniform, non-contrasting, non-reflective color 
tones (similar to the Munsell Soil Color Coding System), and with colors matched to but 

slightly darker than the surrounding landscape. 
 
6.3. Setback Requirements. No person shall drill or deepen an oil and gas well within 

seven hundred fifty (750) feet of occupied dwellings, schools, churches, or cemeteries 
outside an incorporated municipality in the County without the written consent of the 

owner of such occupied dwellings, businesses, schools or churches.   
 
6.4. Fencing and Exclusionary Protocols. Unless provided for in an agreement with 

the applicable surface owner, all well site locations following drilling and completion 
operations shall have fencing or other exclusionary measures to prevent harm to the 

public and wildlife. Fencing will comply with all OCD and Occupational Safety and 



 

 6 

Health Administration (OSHA) requirements for the protection of the public, livestock, 
and wildlife.  
 
6.5. Best Practices. Operator shall conduct its operations consistent with best practices 

of the oil and gas industry as defined by the American Petroleum Institute (API) 
Overview of Industry Guidance and Best Practices and comply with all applicable 
federal and state requirements. 

 
6.6. Trash and Debris. Operator will maintain all locations and well sites upon which 

operations have taken place clear of all litter, trash, and other waste.   
 
6.7. Water Protection. Operator will utilize best practices to ensure that surface water, 

subsurface water, and groundwater are protected during operations and comply with all 
applicable state and federal regulations relating thereto.  Operator will utilize best 

practices to assure efficient use of water. 
 
6.8. Abandonment, Plugging and Remediation. Operator shall submit to the County 

copies of all OCD approved plugging and abandonment permits.  
 

ARTICLE 7. 
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. 

 
7.1. Insurance. In addition to the financial assurance required by the OCD and other 

laws and subject to the self-insurance option below, the operator shall carry the 

insurance policy or policies required below provided by an insurance company or 
companies authorized to do business in New Mexico. In the event such insurance policy 
or policies are cancelled, the operator will take corrective actions to reinstate the 

insurance policy or policies, and notify the County of said corrective action. 
 

A. The County, its officials, employees, agents and officers shall be endorsed as an 
“additional insured” on the required policies. 

 

B. Certificates of insurance shall be delivered to the Sandoval County, Planning and 
Zoning Commission, 1500 Idalia Road, Building D, Bernalillo, NM 87004, 

evidencing all the required coverage, including endorsements, prior to the 
commencement of operations requiring notice. 

 

C. Each policy shall be endorsed to provide the County a minimum thirty-day notice 
of cancellation, non-renewal and/or material change in policy terms or coverage. 

A ten days’ notice shall be acceptable in the event of non-payment of premium. 
 
7.2. Standard Commercial General Liability Policy. This coverage must include 

premises, operations, blowout or explosion, products, completed operations, sudden 
and accidental pollution, blanket contractual liability, underground resources and 

equipment hazard damage, broad form property damage, fire, independent contractors’ 



 

 7 

protective liability and personal injury. This coverage shall be a minimum combined 
single limit of $5,000,00.00 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage. 
 
ARTICLE 8. 

VARIANCES. 
 
8.1.  Application for Variance. A written application for a variance from the terms, 

limitations, and requirements of this ordinance shall be submitted to the Planning and 
Zoning Commission by operator as part of the notice packet or later as a separate 

submission along with a $50.00 review fee per variance.  
 
8.2. Required Information. The variance shall identify the term, limitation, or 

requirement with reference to the article, section, and paragraph for which operator 
seeks the variance. Operator shall also state the grounds upon which the variance is 

sought and should be granted.  
 
8.3. Criteria. Granting of the variance shall not be detrimental to the public health, 

safety, or welfare or injurious to the County’s interests. Granting of a variance is justified 
if there is a demonstrable hardship on operator or common benefit to all interested 

parties based upon articulable conditions upon the site covering the application.  
 
ARTICLE 9. 

PROCEDURES AND FEES. 

 
9.1. Review of Permit application. The Planning and Zoning Division Director or 

designee shall review the Permit application for completeness. The review of the 
application shall be completed by the Planning and Zoning Division Director or designee 

within 10 working days.  In the event that the Planning and Zoning Division Director  or 
designee determines that the Permit application is complete, the Director or designee 

shall issue a Permit Approval to the applicant within the 10 working day period. 
 
In the event that the Planning and Zoning Division Director or designee determines that 

the Permit Application is incomplete, the Director or designee will notify the applicant 
within 10 working days of receipt of the Permit Application and provide information 

regarding the Permit Application’s insufficient information.  In this event, should the 
Applicant pursue Permit Application approval, the Applicant shall resubmit the Permit 
Application to include material and information to resolve the insufficiency within 10 

working days.  The Planning and Zoning Division Director or designee shall have an 
additional 10 working days to review the Permit Application for completeness.   

 
9.2. Fee.  For any new well drilled by operator in the County, the applicant will pay to 

the County a fee of $250.00 per well with such payment to be included with the 

application provided for such new drilling operation.  In the event that the applicant is 
required to provide additional information to resolve Permit application insufficiencies, 

no additional fees shall be required. 
 



 

 8 

9.3. Appeal.   Anyone aggrieved by a decision of the Planning and Zoning Division 

Director or designee may appeal such decision to the Planning and Zoning 

Commission.  A decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission may be appealed to 
the Board of County Commissioners.  The Appellant is responsible for demonstrating 

Legal Standing to file an Appeal as determined by the County Attorney.  Such appeal 
must set forth specifically wherein it is claimed there was an error or an abuse of 
discretion, or where the decision was not supported by evidence in the matter. 
 
ARTICLE 10 
ENFORCEMENT 

 
10.1. Non-Compliance. In the event of fai lure by the operator to comply with this 

Ordinance, the Planning and Zoning Division Director or designee shall issue a written 
notice to operator stating a time of at least thirty (30) days to comply with the notice.   
 
10.2. Violations. If any permittee knowingly or willfully violates any provision of this 

Ordinance and such violation directly causes material harm to the public health, safety 

of county residents, or the environment, the Planning and Zoning Division Director or 
designee shall issue a written citation to such person describing the violation and 
corrective actions required.  When a violation of the Sandoval County Oil and Gas 

Ordinance results in a significant safety or environmental hazard, the owner or 
controller, will be sent a Cease and Desist Letter, giving the permittee thirty (30) days in 

which to set forth reasonable abatement measures. The permittee must immediately 
cease all nuisance behavior. Failing to do so may result in the permittee receiving a 
summons for violating the Sandoval County Oil and Gas Ordinance.  The violation 

citation may be issued to the permittee of the land where the violation is alleged to exist, 
the occupier of the land if different from the owner or to both in the discretion of the 

Planning and Zoning Division Director or designee. When possible, the citation shall 
contain the address of the property on which the violation is alleged to exist, the legal 
description of the property or both. The citation shall be hand-delivered to the alleged 

permittee or violator if possible, or may be mailed to the alleged permittee or violator 
posted upon the property. Any of the previously listed forms of notice shall constitute 

sufficient service of notice under the law.  
 

Any citation issued for violation of this Ordinance shall state the name of the alleged 

permittee or violator, the date the citation was issued, the type of violation, and the 
section of this Ordinance under which the violation is issued. The citation shall, if 

possible, list the action necessary to cure the alleged violation. The citation shall 
conspicuously and in bold face type state: “If not paid, this fine shall constitute a lawful 
debt which will be collected pursuant to legal process and may be assessed as a lien 

upon the property upon which the violation exists. If the violation is remediated by the 
County or by a contractor hired by the County, the actual costs of remediation may be 

added to the fine.”  
 
The fine for violating any provision of this ordinance shall not exceed $300 or the 

maximum legally allowable and the fine shall be payable to the County. The fine may be 



 

 9 

waived in the sole discretion of the County if the alleged permittee or violator 
commences and completes satisfactory actions to remediate the alleged violation. 
 
ARTICLE 11. 

SEVERABILITY, EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
11.1. SEVERABILITY. 

If any provision of this Ordinance shall be held invalid or non-enforceable by any court 

of competent jurisdiction for any reason, the remainder of this Ordinance shall not be 

affected and shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent of the law. 

 
  



 

 10 

11.2. EFFECTIVE DATE. 

As necessary to protect the public health and safety, this Ordinance proposed for 

adoption shall take effect 30 days upon approval by the Sandoval County Board of 

County Commissioners. 

 

ATTEST:    BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

    SANDOVAL COUNTY 

 

 

______________________     _______________________ 

Eileen Garbagni, County Clerk   Don G. Chapman, Chair 

 

 

 

      _______________________ 

                     David J. Heil, Vice Chair 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

    _______________________ 

    Jay C. Block, Member 

_________________________ 

Heather R. Smallwood, County Attorney 

 

     _______________________ 

          F. Kenneth Eichwald, Member 

 

 

 

     _______________________ 

            James F. Holden-Rhodes, Member 



Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Item Summary

   
Regular Meeting
Meeting Date: 10/19/2017  
Requestor: Catherine Martinez, Planning & Zoning
Commissioner Sponsored: Yes  
District: District 1
Agenda: Regular

Information
Action Requested:
Motion to Appoint Mr. Peter Adang  (District 1) to the  Planning and Zoning Commission
for the remainder of a (2) year term expiring April 30, 2019 . 

Why Action Is Necessary (Summary):
Ordinance No.5-18-17.12 provides for (2)  members from District 1. One  position
became vacant September 2017, with the resignation of  John Arango. Term will expire
April 30, 2019 

Recommendations:
Staff recommends that the Board of County Commissioners APPROVE the motion to
appoint Mr. Peter Adang to the Planning and Zoning Commission for a term to expire
April 30, 2019.

Recommended Approval:
 

Department
Director/Elected

Official

Attorney
As to Form

County
Manager

Other

MRS
10/11/17

HRS
10/11/17

DM
10/12/17 ----------

Attachments
PJA Resume 



RESUME 

PETER J. ADANG 

 

I. PERSONAL: 

 

 Name:  Peter J. Adang 
 Address:   1 Maize Trail 

       Placitas, New Mexico 87043 
 Telephone: (575) 779-2361(cell) 

 Email:  pjadang@gmail.com 
 Marital Status: Married 
 Children: Three 

 
II. EDUCATION: 

 

 High School:  New York Mills High School 
    New York Mills, New York 

    1954 to 1958 
 

 Undergraduate:   Syracuse University 
    1958 to 1961 
    Major:   Political Science 

    Minor:  English 
    Degree: B.A. (Magna Cum Laude)  

 
 Graduate:  Syracuse University College of Law 
    Syracuse, New York 

    1961 to 1964 
    Degree: Juris Doctor (Magna Cum Laude) 

 
 Post-Graduate:  (a) Georgetown University College of Law 
     Washington, D.C. 

     Course:  Approximately 16 hours of graduate law  
            courses in Masters Degree (tax law) 

     Degree:  None 
(b) University of New Mexico 

     Albuquerque, New Mexico 

     Course:  Various courses in anatomy, history,  
         Spanish, English 

     Degree:   None 
(c) Continuing Legal Education:  15 or more hours per 

          Year of continuing legal education   

           Programs from 1980 to 1998 
 

 
III.   CURRENT OCCUPATION:  Retired from the practice of law.   

mailto:pjadang@gmail.com


 
IV. WORK HISTORY: 

 

 (a) Employer: United States Department of Justice 

    Washington, D.C. 
  Dates:  1964 to 1966 
  Position: Trial attorney 

  Supervisors:   Lewis Bernstein, Burton Thorman 
  Reason for leaving: Resigned to go into private practice. 

 
 (b) Employer: Modrall, Sperling, Roehl, Harris & Sisk 
    500 4th N.W., Suite 1000 

    Albuquerque, New Mexico 87102 
  Dates:  1966 to 1971 

  Position: Associate Attorney 
  Supervisors: Various partners 
  Reason for leaving: Not applicable.  Became a partner in 1971 and a   

    shareholder in 1982 when the firm was incorporated 
 

 (c) Employer: Modrall, Sperling, Roehl, Harris & Sisk 
    (same as above) 
  Dates:  1971 to 1992 

  Position: Partner (to 1982)/Shareholder (1982 to 1992) 
    Director (1982 to 1992) 

    Vice President (1990 to 1992) 
  Reason for leaving: Resigned to form my own firm 
 

 (d) Employer: Peter J. Adang, P.C. 
    500 Marquette, N.W. 

    Albuquerque, New Mexico 87103 
  Dates:  1993 to December 1999 
  Position: President/Director 

  Reason for leaving: Retired December 1999 
  

 (e) Employer: General Meters Corp. 
    Colorado Springs, Colorado 
  Dates:  2000 to 2001 

  Position: Contract employee 
  Reason for leaving: Task completed 

 
 (f) Employer: Sarasota Public Schools  
    Sarasota, Florida 

  Dates:  2002 – 2005 
  Position: Substitute teacher 

  Reason for leaving: Returned to New Mexico 
 



V. POSITIONS/HONORS 

 

 College: 
 

- New York State Regents Academic Scholarship (Undergraduate) 
- Outstanding debater at Syracuse University (1960 and 1961) (Undergraduate) 
- Graduated Magna Cum Laude (Undergraduate) 

- Full law school academic scholarship (Graduate) 
- Member and Notes Editor/Syracuse Law Review (Graduate) 

- Member/Order of the Coif Honor Law Society (Graduate) 
- Member/Justinian Honor Law Society (Graduate) 
- Editor/Syracuse Law Review Annual Survey of New York Law (1964) 

(Graduate) 
- Member/Syracuse University Moot Court Board (Graduate) 

- Graduated Magna Cum Laude (Graduate) 
 
 Professional: 

 
- Director/New Mexico State Bar Commercial Litigation Section (1980 to 1990; 

Chairman 1982 to 1984) 
- Director/Civil Trial legal Specialization Committee (1994-1999) 
- American Board of Trial Advocates (1980-1999) 

- National Board of Trial Advocacy (1993-199) 
- Listed in “Best Lawyers in America” (1988 to 1999) 

- Rated “AV” (highest legal ability/very high ethical standards) in Martindale 
Hubbell Law Directory (1978 to 1999) 

- Director/Bernalillo County Planned Parenthood Association (1966 to 1976) 

- Director/Albuquerque-Bernalillo County YMCA (1976 to 1986) 
- Member/Bernalillo County Labor Board (1976 to 1982) 

- President/Hidden Oaks Estates Association (2001 to 2005) 
- President/Taos Country Club Subdivision Property Owners Association (2007 to 

2015) 

- Member/Taos County Planning Commission (2010 to 2014) 
-   Chairman/Taos County Board of Zoning Appeals (2015 to 2016) 

- Trustee of Kit Carson Electric Cooperative (2012 to 2016) 
- Director/Anasazi Trails HOA (2017) 
 



Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Item Summary

   
Regular Meeting
Meeting Date: 10/19/2017  
Requestor: Maria Encinias, Administration
Commissioner Sponsored: No  
District: 
Agenda: 

Information
Action Requested:
Request for a Motion to Adopt Resolution. No 10-19-17.9A Declaring the Intent of the
Board of County Commissioners Authorize the Issuance of the Sandoval County, New
Mexico Energy Efficiency Lease-Purchase Agreement, with the Intent to Guarantee
Utility Savings Contract and Escrow Agreement.

Why Action Is Necessary (Summary):
June 15, 2017, pursuant to the Act, the Board of County Commission adopted the
Parameters Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Sandoval County, New Mexico
Energy Efficiency Lease-Purchase Agreement a Guaranteed Utility Savings Contract
and an Escrow Agreement.

Recommendations:
Board of County Commission Approval

Recommended Approval:
 

Department
Director/Elected

Official

Attorney
As to Form

County
Manager

Other

    DM
10/12/17 ----------

Attachments
Lease-Purchase Agreement 
Escrow Agreement 
RESOLUTION NO. 10-19-17.9A 



EQUIPMENT LEASE-PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS EQUIPMENT LEASE-PURCHASE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), is 
dated as of July 20, 2017, between STERLING NATIONAL BANK, a national banking 
association organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, as Lessor 
(“Lessor”), and SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO, a political subdivision existing 
under the laws of the State of New Mexico, as Lessee (“Lessee”), wherein the parties hereby 
agree as follows:

Section 1.  Definitions.  The following terms will have the meanings indicated below 
unless the context clearly requires otherwise:

“Act” means the Public Facility Energy Efficiency and Water Conservation Act, NMSA 
1978, §§ 6-23-1 et seq. (2009), as amended.

“Agreement” means this Equipment Lease-Purchase Agreement and any other schedule, 
exhibit or escrow agreement made a part hereof by the parties hereto, together with any 
amendments to this Agreement.

“Closing Date” the date of execution and delivery of this Agreement.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Cost of Issuance” shall include fees to Lessor’s Counsel, Lessee’s Counsel, Lessee’s 
Financial Advisor, and payment to the State of New Mexico Energy, Minerals and Natural 
Resources Department for its Investment Grade Audit Fee.

“Guaranteed Utility Savings Contract” means the guaranteed utility savings contract
dated _______________, 2017, between Lessee and Energy Controls, Inc., a copy of which is 
attached to this Agreement as Exhibit E.

“Equipment” means the property described on the Equipment Schedule attached hereto 
as Exhibit A, and all replacements, substitutions, repairs, restorations, modifications, 
attachments, accessions, additions and improvements thereof or thereto.

“Event of Default” means an Event of Default described in Section 35.

“Guaranteed Cost Savings” means the anticipated “utility costs savings” and 
“conservation-related cost savings,” as such terms are defined in the Act, and that will be saved 
by Lessee as a result of the Guaranteed Utility Savings Contract, as set forth in Exhibit C hereto.

“Issuance Year” is the calendar year in which the Closing Date occurs.

“Lease Term” means the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the 
occurrence of the earliest event specified in Section 6.

“Lessee” means the entity described as such in the first paragraph of this Agreement, and 
its permitted successors and its assigns. 



2

“Lessor” means the entity described as such in the first paragraph of this Agreement, its 
successors and its assigns.

“Net Proceeds” means the amount remaining from the gross proceeds of any insurance 
claim or condemnation award after deducting all expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) 
incurred in the collection of such claim or award.

“Ordinance” means Ordinance No. 6-15-17.8A adopted by Lessee’s Board of County 
Commissioners on June 15, 2017, as supplemented by Resolution No. 7-13-1.___ adopted July 
13, 2017.

“Payment Schedule” means the schedule of Rental Payments and Purchase Price set 
forth on Exhibit B.

“Pledged Energy Cost Savings Revenues” means the actual annual energy costs for the 
Lessee’s facilities equipped with energy conservation measures pursuant to the Guaranteed 
Utility Savings Contract, after installation and initiation of use, as compared to the actual annual 
energy costs associated with such facilities prior to installation and use of the energy 
conservation measures, incurred in Lessee’s Fiscal Year 2017.

“Purchase Price” means the amount set forth on the Payment Schedule that Lessee may, 
at its option, pay to Lessor to purchase the Equipment.

“Rental Payment Dates” means the dates set forth on the Payment Schedule on which 
Rental Payments are due.

“Rental Payment Fund” means the special fund established by Lessee in the Ordinance 
for the deposit of Pledged Energy Cost Savings Revenues and such other authorized revenues as 
are permitted by the Act and pledged in the Ordinance for Rental Payments, subject to Sections 
6 through 8 and Section 10.

“Rental Payments” means the basic rental payments payable by Lessee pursuant to 
Section 9 from the Rental Payment Fund.

“State” means the State of New Mexico

“Vendor” means the manufacturers of the Equipment as well as the agents or dealers of 
the manufacturers from whom Lessor purchased or is purchasing the Equipment, as listed on 
Exhibit A.

Section 2.  Representations and Covenants of Lessee.  Lessee represents, warrants and 
covenants, for the benefit of Lessor as follows:

(a) Lessee is a political subdivision duly organized and existing under the 
constitution and laws of the State.  Lessee will do or cause to be done all things to preserve and 
keep in full force and effect its existence as a political subdivision.  So long as the Agreement 
continues in effect, Lessee shall use its best efforts to comply with its enabling legislation and 



3

other laws to which it is subject. Lessee has a substantial amount of one or more of the following 
sovereign powers: (a) the power to tax, (b) the power of eminent domain, and (c) police power.

(b) Lessee is authorized under the constitution and laws of the State to enter into this 
Agreement and the transaction contemplated hereby and to perform all of its obligations 
hereunder.

(c) Lessee has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement by proper 
action and approval of its governing body at meetings duly called, regularly convened and 
attended throughout by a requisite majority of the members thereof or by other appropriate 
official approval.

(d) This Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Lessee 
enforceable in accordance with its terms, except to the extent limited by applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.

(e) No event or condition that constitutes, or with the giving of notice or the lapse of 
time or both would constitute, an Event of Default exists at the Closing Date.

(f) Lessee has, in accordance with the requirements of law, pledged to and granted to 
Lessor a security interest in the Pledged Energy Cost Savings Revenues for the payment of 
amounts due under this Agreement, subject to the uses thereof permitted by and the priorities set 
forth in the Ordinance.  The Agreement constitutes an irrevocable and first lien on the Pledged 
Energy Cost Savings Revenues.

(g) Lessee has complied with such public bidding requirements as may be applicable 
to this Agreement and the acquisition by Lessee of the Equipment hereunder.

(h) There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, 
before or by any court, public board or body, pending or threatened against or affecting Lessee, 
nor to the best knowledge of Lessee is there any basis therefor, wherein an unfavorable decision, 
ruling or finding would materially adversely affect the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement or any other document, agreement or certificate which is used or contemplated for 
use in the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or materially 
adversely affect the financial condition or properties of Lessee.  

(i) All authorizations, consents and approvals of governmental bodies or agencies 
required in connection with the execution and delivery by Lessee of this Agreement or in 
connection with the carrying out by Lessee of its obligations hereunder have been obtained.

(j) The entering into and performance of this Agreement or any other document or 
agreement contemplated hereby to which Lessee is or is to be a party will not violate any 
judgment, order, law or regulation applicable to Lessee or result in any breach of, or constitute a 
default under, or result in the creation of any lien, charge, security interest or other encumbrance 
on any assets of Lessee or the Equipment pursuant to any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, 
bank loan or credit agreement or other instrument to which Lessee is a party or by which it or its 
assets may be bound, except as herein provided.



4

(k) The Equipment described in this Agreement is essential to the function of Lessee 
or to the service Lessee provides to its citizens.  Lessee has an immediate need for, and expects 
to make immediate use of, substantially all the Equipment, which need is not temporary or 
expected to diminish in the foreseeable future.  The Equipment will be used by Lessee only for 
the purpose of performing one or more of Lessee’s governmental or proprietary functions 
consistent with the permissible scope of Lessee’s authority.

(l) Neither the payment of the Rental Payments hereunder nor any portion thereof is (i) 
secured by any interest in property used or to be used in a trade or business of a non-exempt person 
(within the meaning of Section 103 of the Code) or in payments in respect of such property or (ii) 
derived from payments in respect of property, or borrowed money, used or to be used in a trade or 
business of a non-exempt person (within the meaning of Section 103 of the Code).  No portion of 
the Equipment will be used directly or indirectly in any trade or business carried on by any 
non-exempt person (within the meaning of Section 103 of the Code).

(m) Lessee will comply with all applicable provisions of the Code, including without 
limitation Sections 103 and 148 thereof, and the applicable regulations of the Treasury Department 
to maintain the exclusion of the interest components of Rental Payments from gross income for 
purposes of federal income taxation.

(n) Lessee will use the proceeds of this Agreement as soon as practicable and with all 
reasonable dispatch for the purpose for which this Agreement has been entered into.  No part of the 
proceeds of this Agreement will be invested in any securities, obligations or other investments or 
used, at any time, directly or indirectly, in a manner which, if such use had been reasonably 
anticipated on the date of issuance of this Agreement, would have caused any portion of this 
Agreement to be or become “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 103(b)(2) or 
Section 148 of the Code and the applicable regulations of the Treasury Department.

(o) Lessee has never failed to pay payments coming due under any bond issue, lease 
purchase agreement or other indebtedness obligation of Lessee.

(p) The useful life of the Equipment will not be less than the Lease Term.

(q) The application, statements and credit or financial information submitted by 
Lessee to Lessor are true and correct and made to induce Lessor to enter into this Agreement and 
the escrow agreement, and Lessee has experienced no material change in its financial condition 
since the date(s) of such information.

(r) Lessee has provided Lessor with audited financial statements through June 30, 
2016.  Lessee has experienced no material change in its financial condition or in the revenues 
expected to be utilized to meet Rental Payments due under the Agreement since June 30, 2016.

(s) Lessee will pay the excess (if any) of the actual costs of acquiring the Equipment 
under the Agreement over the amount deposited by Lessor in the escrow fund, if any, established 
under any related escrow agreement and interest earnings thereon.



5

(t) Lessee has established or will have established as of the Closing Date, the Rental 
Payment Fund in accordance with the Act for the purpose of paying the Rental Payments.

Section 3.  Certification as to Arbitrage.  Lessee hereby represents as follows:

(a) The estimated total costs of the Equipment, together with any costs of entering into 
this Agreement that are expected to be financed under this Agreement, will not be less than the 
total principal portion of the Rental Payments.

(b) The Equipment has been ordered or is expected to be ordered within six months 
of the Closing Date, and the Equipment is expected to be delivered and installed, and the 
Vendor fully paid, within eighteen months of the Closing Date.

(c) The Equipment has not been and is not expected to be sold or otherwise disposed of 
by Lessee, either in whole or in major part, prior to the last maturity of the Rental Payments, 
except for ordinary repair and replacement. 

(d) To the best of our knowledge, information and belief, the above expectations are 
reasonable.

Section 4.  Lease of Equipment.  Lessor hereby demises, leases and lets the Equipment 
to Lessee, and Lessee rents, leases and hires the Equipment from Lessor, in accordance with the 
provisions of this Agreement, for the Lease Term.

Section 5.  Lease Term.  The term of this Agreement will commence on the Closing 
Date and will terminate when all amounts due and payable under this Agreement have been paid 
in full, unless Lessee has terminated this Agreement pursuant to Section 6 or Section 31.

Section 6.  Termination of Lease Term.  The Lease Term will terminate upon the 
earliest of any of the following events:

(a) the exercise by Lessee of the option to purchase the Equipment under the 
provisions of Section 31 and payment of the Purchase Price and all amounts payable in 
connection therewith;

(b) the exercise by Lessee of the option to cease Rental Payments pursuant to Section 
8; 

(c) a default by Lessee and Lessor’s election to terminate this Agreement under 
Section 36; or

(d) the payment by Lessee of all Rental Payments authorized or required to be paid 
by Lessee hereunder during the Lease Term.

Section 7.  Reserved.

Section 8.  Lessee’s Election to Cease Rental Payments.  Lessee is obligated only to 
pay Rental Payments under this Agreement as may lawfully be made from revenues and funds 



6

pledged for that purpose pursuant to the Ordinance and this Agreement.  In the event Lessee 
elects to cease making payments of Pledged Energy Cost Savings Revenues due under this 
Agreement, or Pledged Energy Costs Savings Revenues are not otherwise legally available, in 
Lessee’s sole and absolute discretion, to pay the Rental Payments required to be paid in the next 
occurring Renewal Term, as set forth in the Payment Schedule, this Agreement will be deemed 
to be terminated at the end of the then current Fiscal Year.  Lessee agrees to deliver notice to 
Lessor of such termination at least 90 days prior to the end of the then current Fiscal Year.  If 
this Agreement is terminated in accordance with this Section, Lessee agrees, at Lessee’s cost and 
expense, to peaceably deliver the Equipment to Lessor at the location or locations specified by
Lessor. [NEED TO DISCUSS THIS CONCEPT]

Section 9.  Rental Payments.  Lessee will pay Rental Payments, exclusively from 
legally available Pledged Energy Cost Savings Revenues deposited in the Rental Payment Fund 
and any funds received from the financial guaranty under the Guaranteed Utility Savings
Contract as is necessary to pay applicable Rental Payments, in lawful money of the United States 
of America to Lessor in the amounts and on the dates set forth on the Payment Schedule. Rental 
Payments will be in consideration for Lessee’s use of the Equipment during the fiscal year in 
which such payments are due.  Any Rental Payment not received on or before its due date will 
bear interest at the rate of 10% per annum or the maximum amount permitted by law, whichever is 
less, from its due date.  Lessee hereby pledges the amount in the Rental Payment Fund to the 
payment of all amounts due hereunder.

In the event that it is determined that any of the interest components of Rental Payments 
may not be excluded from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation, Lessee agrees to 
pay to Lessor promptly after any such determination and on each Rental Payment Date thereafter 
an additional amount determined by Lessor to compensate Lessor for the loss of such excludability 
(including without limitation, compensation relating to interest expense, penalties or additions to 
tax), which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

Section 10.  Guaranteed Cost Savings as Special Funds of Lessee; Rental Payment 
Fund.

(a) This Agreement, together with Rental Payments and other obligations of the 
Lessee hereunder, constitutes a special, limited obligation of the Lessee, payable solely from the 
Pledged Energy Cost Savings Revenues as provided in the Ordinance; and this Agreement shall 
not constitute a general obligation of the Lessee or the State, and the Lessor may not look to any 
general or other fund of the Lessee for payment of the obligations hereunder.  Nothing contained 
in this Agreement or the Ordinance, or any other instruments, shall be construed as obligating the 
Lessee (except with respect to the application of the Pledged Energy Cost Savings Revenues), as 
incurring a pecuniary liability or a charge upon the general credit of the Lessee or against its 
taxing power, nor shall a breach of any agreement contained in this Agreement, the Ordinance or 
any other instrument impose any pecuniary liability upon the Lessee or any charge upon its 
general credit or against its taxing power.  This Agreement shall never constitute an indebtedness 
of the Lessee within the meaning of any State constitutional provision or statutory limitation and 
shall never constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the Lessee or a charge against its 
general credit or taxing power.  Nothing herein shall prevent the Lessee from applying other 



7

funds of the Lessee legally available therefor to payments required hereunder, in its sole and 
absolute discretion.

(b) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in any fiscal year 
amounts in the Rental Payment Fund equal the aggregate Rental Payments due in such fiscal 
year, Lessee may withdraw any excess amounts which may be used for any lawful purpose of 
Lessee. 

Section 11.  Interest Component.  As set forth on the Payment Schedule, a portion of 
each Rental Payment is paid as, and represents payment of, interest. Interest shall be computed 
on the basis of a 360 day year and 90 day quarters at ___________ percent.

Section 12.  Rental Payments to be Unconditional.  Except as provided in Sections 8 
and 10, the obligations of Lessee to make Rental Payments (but only from and to the extent of 
legally available Pledged Energy Cost Savings Revenues) and to perform and observe the other 
covenants and agreements contained herein shall be absolute and unconditional in all events 
without abatement, diminution, deduction, set-off or defense, for any reason, including without 
limitation any failure of the Equipment to be delivered or installed, any defects, malfunctions, 
breakdowns or infirmities in the equipment or any accident, condemnation or unforeseen 
circumstances.

Section 13.  Delivery, Installation and Acceptance of the Equipment.  Lessee will 
order the Equipment, cause the Equipment to be delivered and installed at the locations specified 
on Exhibit A, pursuant to the Guaranteed Utility Savings Contract, and pay any and all delivery 
and installation costs in connection therewith.  When the Equipment has been delivered and 
installed, Lessee will immediately accept the Equipment, subject to the provisions of the New 
Mexico Procurement Code, NMSA 1978, §§ 13-1-1, et seq. and the provisions of the Guaranteed 
Utility Savings Contract and evidence said acceptance by executing and delivering to Lessor an 
acceptance certificate in form and substance acceptable to Lessor.  After it has been installed, the 
Equipment will not be moved from the locations specified on Exhibit A without Lessor’s 
consent, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld.

Section 14.  Enjoyment of Equipment.  Lessor hereby covenants to provide Lessee with 
quiet use and enjoyment of the Equipment during the Lease Term, and Lessee will peaceably and 
quietly have and hold and enjoy the Equipment during the Lease Term, without suit, trouble or 
hindrance from Lessor, except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement.

Section 15.  Right of Inspection.  Lessor will have the right at all reasonable times 
during regular business hours to enter into and upon the property of Lessee for the purpose of 
inspecting the Equipment.

Section 16.  Use of the Equipment.  Lessee will not install, use, operate or maintain the 
Equipment improperly, carelessly, in violation of any applicable law or in a manner contrary to 
that contemplated by this Agreement.  Lessee will obtain all permits and licenses, if any, 
necessary for the installation and operation of the Equipment.  In addition, Lessee agrees to 
comply in all respects (including, without limitation, with respect to the use, maintenance and 
operation of each item of the Equipment) with all applicable laws, regulations and rulings of any 



8

legislative, executive, administrative or judicial body; provided, however, that Lessee may 
contest in good faith the validity or application of any such law, regulation or ruling in any 
reasonable manner that does not, in the opinion of Lessor, adversely affect the interest of Lessor 
in and to the Equipment or its interest or rights under this Agreement.

Section 17.  Maintenance of Equipment.  Lessee agrees that it will, at Lessee’s own 
cost and expense, maintain, preserve and keep the Equipment in good repair, working order and 
condition. Lessor will have no responsibility to maintain, or repair or to make improvements or 
additions to the Equipment.

Section 18.  Title to the Equipment.  During the Lease Term, title to the Equipment and 
any and all additions, repairs, replacements or modifications will vest in Lessee, subject to the 
rights of Lessor under this Agreement; provided that title will thereafter immediately and without 
any action by Lessee vest in Lessor, and Lessee will immediately surrender possession of the 
Equipment to Lessor upon (a) any termination of this Agreement other than termination pursuant 
to Section 31 or (b) the occurrence of an Event of Default.  It is the intent of the parties hereto 
that any transfer of title to Lessor pursuant to this Section will occur automatically without the 
necessity of any bill of sale, certificate of title or other instrument of conveyance. Lessee will, 
nevertheless, execute and deliver any such instruments as Lessor may request to evidence such 
transfer.  Lessee irrevocably designates, makes, constitutes and appoints Lessor and its assignee 
as Lessee’s true and lawful attorney (and agent-in-fact) with power, at such time of termination 
or times thereafter as Lessor in its sole and absolute discretion may determine, in Lessee’s or 
Lessor’s or such assignee’s name, to endorse the name of Lessee upon any bill of sale, 
document, instrument, invoice, freight bill, bill of lading or similar document relating to the 
Equipment in order to vest title in Lessor and transfer possession to Lessor.

Section 19.  Security Interest.  To secure the payment of all of Lessee’s obligations 
under this Agreement and to the extent permitted by law, Lessor retains a security interest 
constituting a first lien on the Equipment and on all additions, attachments and accessions thereto 
and substitutions therefor and proceeds therefrom.  Lessee agrees to execute such additional 
documents in form satisfactory to Lessor, that Lessor deems necessary or appropriate to establish 
and maintain its security interest.  Lessee agrees that financing statements may be filed with 
respect to the security interest in the Equipment.

As further security therefor, Lessee grants to Lessor a first priority security interest in the 
cash and negotiable instruments from time to time comprising the escrow fund, if any, 
established under any related escrow agreement and all proceeds (cash and non-cash) thereof, 
and agrees with respect thereto that Lessor shall have all the rights and remedies of a secured 
party.

Section 20.  Personal Property.  Lessor and Lessee agree that the Equipment is and will 
remain personal property.  The Equipment will not be deemed to be affixed to or a part of the 
real estate on which it may be situated, notwithstanding that the Equipment or any part thereof 
may be or hereafter become in any manner physically affixed or attached to such real estate or 
any building thereon.  Upon the request of Lessor, Lessee will, at Lessee’s expense, furnish a 
waiver of any interest in the Equipment from any party having an interest in any such real estate 
or building.



9

Section 21.  Liens, Taxes, Other Governmental Charges and Utility Charges.  Lessee 
will keep the Equipment free and clear of all liens, charges and encumbrances, except those 
created under this Agreement.  The parties to this Agreement contemplate that the Equipment 
will be used for a governmental or proprietary purpose of Lessee and, therefore, that the 
Equipment will be exempt from all property taxes and other similar charges.  If the use, 
possession or acquisition of the Equipment is found to be subject to taxation in any form, Lessee 
will pay all taxes and governmental charges lawfully assessed or levied against or with respect to 
the Equipment.  Lessee will pay all utility and other charges incurred in the use and maintenance 
of the Equipment.  Lessee will pay such taxes and charges as the same become due; provided 
that, with respect to any such taxes and charges that may lawfully be paid in installments over a 
period of years, Lessee will be obligated to pay only such installments that accrue during the 
Lease Term.

Section 22.  Insurance.  At its own expense, Lessee will maintain (a) casualty insurance 
insuring the Equipment against loss or damage by fire and all other risks covered by the standard 
extended coverage endorsement then in use in the State and any other risks reasonably required 
by Lessor in an amount at least equal to the then applicable Purchase Price of the Equipment, (b) 
liability insurance that protects Lessor from liability in all events in form and amount satisfactory 
to Lessor, and (c) workers’ compensation coverage as required by the laws of the State; provided 
that, with Lessor’s prior written consent, Lessee may self-insure against the risks described in 
clauses (a) and (b).  Lessee shall also cause Vendor to provide to Lessor a payment and 
performance bond naming Lessor as a dual obligee with Lessee and issued by a surety company 
rated “A” or better by AM Best. All insurance proceeds from casualty losses will be payable as 
hereinafter provided. Lessee will furnish to Lessor certificates evidencing such coverage 
throughout the Lease Term.

All such casualty and liability insurance will be with insurers that are acceptable to 
Lessor, will name Lessor as a loss payee and an additional insured and will contain a provision to 
the effect that such insurance will not be cancelled or modified materially without first giving 
written notice thereof to Lessor at least ten days in advance of such cancellation or modification.  
All such casualty insurance will contain a provision making any losses payable to Lessee and 
Lessor, as their respective interests may appear.

Section 23.  Advances.  In the event Lessee fails to maintain the insurance required by 
this Agreement, pay taxes or charges required to be paid by it under this Agreement or fails to 
keep the Equipment in good repair and operating condition, Lessor may (but will be under no 
obligation to) purchase the required policies of insurance and pay the cost of the premiums on 
the thereof, pay such taxes and charges and make such Equipment repairs or replacements as are 
necessary and pay the cost thereof.  All amounts so advanced by Lessor will become additional 
rent.  Lessee agrees to pay such amounts with interest thereon from the date paid at the rate of 
10% per annum or the maximum permitted by law, whichever is less.

Section 24.  Financial Information.  Within 270 days after the end of each fiscal year, 
Lessee will provide Lessor with current financial statements, budgets and such other financial 
information relating to the ability of Lessee to continue this Agreement as may be requested by 
Lessor.



10

Section 25.  Release and Indemnification.  From and to the extent of legally available 
Pledged Energy Cost Savings Revenues, to the extent permitted by law, Lessee will indemnify, 
protect and hold harmless Lessor from and against any and all liability, obligations, losses, 
claims and damages whatsoever, regardless of cause thereof, and expenses in connection 
therewith (including, without limitation, counsel fees and expenses and any federal income tax 
and interest and penalties connected therewith imposed on interest received) arising out of or as 
the result of (a) the entering into this Agreement, (b) the ownership of any item of the 
Equipment, (c) the manufacturing, ordering, acquisition, use, operation, condition, purchase, 
delivery, rejection, storage or return of any item of the Equipment, (d) any accident in connection 
with the operation, use, condition, possession, storage or return of any item of the Equipment 
resulting in damage to property or injury or death to any person or (e) the breach of any covenant 
herein or any material misrepresentation contained herein. The indemnification arising under 
this paragraph will continue in full force and effect notwithstanding the full payment of all 
obligations under this Agreement or the termination of the Lease Term for any reason. 

Section 26.  Risk of Loss.  Lessee assumes, from and including the Closing Date, all risk 
of loss of or damage to the Equipment from any cause whatsoever.  No such loss of or damage to 
the Equipment nor defect therein nor unfitness or obsolescence thereof will relieve Lessee of the 
obligation to make Rental Payments or to perform any other obligation under this Agreement.

Section 27.  Damage, Destruction, Condemnation; Use of Proceeds.  If (a) the 
Equipment or any portion thereof is destroyed, in whole or in part, or is damaged by fire or other 
casualty, or (b) title to, or the temporary use of, the Equipment or any part thereof or the interest 
of Lessee or Lessor in the Equipment or any part thereof will be taken under the exercise of the 
power of eminent domain by any governmental body or by any person, firm or corporation 
acting under governmental authority, Lessee and Lessor will cause the Net Proceeds of any 
insurance claim or condemnation award to be applied to the prompt replacement, repair, 
restoration, modification or improvement of the Equipment, unless Lessee has exercised its 
option to purchase the Equipment pursuant to Section 31.  Any balance of the Net Proceeds 
remaining after such work has been completed will be paid to Lessee.  

Section 28.  Insufficiency of Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are insufficient to pay in 
full the cost of any repair, restoration, modification or improvement referred to in Section 27, 
Lessee will either (a) complete such replacement, repair, restoration, modification or 
improvement and pay any costs thereof in excess of the amount of the Net Proceeds, or (b) 
purchase Lessor’s interest in the Equipment pursuant to Section 31.  The amount of the Net 
Proceeds, if any, remaining after completing such repair, restoration, modification or 
improvement or after purchasing the Equipment will be retained by Lessee.  If Lessee will make 
any payments pursuant to this Section, Lessee will not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor 
from Lessor nor will Lessee be entitled to any diminution of the amounts payable under Section 
9.

Section 29.  Disclaimer of Warranties.  LESSOR MAKES NO WARRANTY OR 
REPRESENTATION, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE VALUE, DESIGN, 
CONDITION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR PARTICULAR USE OR 
PURPOSE OF THE EQUIPMENT OR AGAINST INFRINGEMENT, OR ANY OTHER 
WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION WITH RESPECT THERETO. IN NO EVENT 



11

SHALL LESSOR BE LIABLE FOR ANY INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, SPECIAL OR 
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGE IN CONNECTION WITH OR ARISING OUT OF THIS 
AGREEMENT OR THE EXISTENCE, FURNISHING, FUNCTIONING OR LESSEE’S 
USE OR MAINTENANCE OF ANY EQUIPMENT OR SERVICES PROVIDED FOR IN 
THIS AGREEMENT.

Section 30.  Vendor’s Warranties.  Lessee may have rights under the contract 
evidencing the purchase of the Equipment; Lessee is advised to contact the Vendor for a 
description of any such rights.  Lessee hereby assigns to Lessor during the Lease Term all 
warranties running from Vendor to Lessee. Lessor hereby irrevocably appoints Lessee its agent 
and attorney-in-fact during the Lease Term, so long as Lessee will not be in default hereunder, to 
assert from time to time whatever claims and rights (including without limitation warranties) 
related to the Equipment that Lessor may have against the Vendor.  Lessee’s sole remedy for the 
breach of any such warranty, indemnification or representation will be against the Vendor, and 
not against Lessor.  Any such matter will not have any effect whatsoever on the rights and 
obligations of Lessor with respect to this Agreement, including the right to receive full and 
timely payments hereunder.  Lessee expressly acknowledges that Lessor makes, and has made, 
no representations or warranties whatsoever as to the existence or availability of such warranties 
by the Vendor.

Section 31.  Purchase Option.  Lessee will have the option to purchase the Equipment, 
upon giving written notice to Lessor at least 30 days before the date of purchase, at the following 
times and upon the following terms:

(a) On any Rental Payment Date on and after December 1, 2022, upon payment in 
full of the Rental Payment then due hereunder plus all other amounts due hereunder plus the 
then-applicable Purchase Price to Lessor; 

(b) In the event of substantial damage to or destruction or condemnation (other than 
by Lessee or any entity controlled by or otherwise affiliated with Lessee) of substantially all of 
the Equipment, on the day Lessee specifies as the purchase date in Lessee’s notice to Lessor of 
its exercise of the purchase option, upon payment in full of the Rental Payment and all other 
amounts then due hereunder plus (i) the Purchase Price designated on the Payment Schedule for 
such purchase date if such purchase date is a Rental Payment Date or the Purchase Price for the 
immediately preceding Rental Payment Date if such purchase date is not a Rental Payment Date, 
and (ii) if such day is not a Rental Payment Date, an amount equal to the portion of the interest 
component of the Rental Payment scheduled to come due on the following Rental Payment Date 
accrued from the immediately preceding Rental Payment Date to such purchase date, computed 
on the basis of a 360-day year of four ninety (90) day quarters; or

(c) In the event monies remain in any escrow fund established under an escrow 
agreement, upon receipt by the escrow agent under such escrow agreement of a duly executed 
certificate of acceptance and payment request identified as the final such request, the remaining 
monies in such escrow fund shall, first be applied to all reasonable fees and expenses incurred by 
such escrow agent, if applicable, in connection with such escrow fund as evidenced by its 
statement forwarded to Lessor and Lessee; and, second be paid to Lessor, for application against 
the outstanding principal components of Rental Payments, including prepayment of Rental 



12

Payments hereunder, unless Lessor directs that payment of such amount be made in such other 
manner that, in the opinion of nationally recognized counsel in the area of tax exempt municipal 
obligations satisfactory to Lessor, will not adversely affect the exclusion of the interest components 
of Rental Payments from gross income for federal income tax purposes. If any such amount is 
applied against the outstanding principal components of Rental Payments, the Payment Schedule 
attached hereto will be revised accordingly.

Upon the exercise of the option to purchase set forth above, title to the Equipment will be 
vested in Lessee, free and clear of any claim by or through Lessor.

Section 32.  Determination of Fair Purchase Price.  Lessee and Lessor hereby agree 
and determine that the Rental Payments hereunder represent the fair value of the use of the 
Equipment and that the amount required to exercise Lessee’s option to purchase the Equipment 
pursuant to Section 31 represents, as of the date of exercise of such option, the fair purchase 
price of the Equipment.  Lessee hereby determines that the Rental Payments do not exceed a 
reasonable amount so as to place Lessee under a practical economic compulsion to renew this 
Agreement or to exercise its option to purchase the Equipment hereunder.  In making such 
determinations, Lessee and Lessor have given consideration to (a) the costs of the Equipment, (b) 
the uses and purposes for which the Equipment will be employed by Lessee, (c) the benefit to 
Lessee by reason of the acquisition and installation of the Equipment and the use of the 
Equipment pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Agreement, and (d) Lessee’s option to 
purchase the Equipment. Lessee hereby determines and declares that the acquisition and 
installation of the Equipment and the leasing of the Equipment pursuant to this Agreement will 
result in equipment of comparable quality and meeting the same requirements and standards as 
would be necessary if the acquisition and installation of the Equipment were performed by 
Lessee other than pursuant to this Agreement.  Lessee hereby determines and declares that the 
Lease Term does not exceed 120% the useful life of the Equipment.

Section 33.  Assignment by Lessor.  Lessor’s interest in, to and under this Agreement 
and the Equipment may be assigned and reassigned in whole or in part to one or more assignees 
by Lessor without the necessity of obtaining the consent of Lessee; provided that any assignment 
will not be effective against Lessee until (a) Lessee has received written notice of the name and 
address of the assignee and (b) in the event that such assignment is made to a bank or trust 
company for holders of certificates representing interests in this Agreement, such bank or trust 
company agrees to maintain, or cause to be maintained, a register by which a record of the names 
and addresses of such holders as of any particular time is kept and agrees, upon request of 
Lessee, to furnish such information to Lessee.  Lessee will retain all such notices as a register of 
all assignees and will make all payments to the assignee or assignees designated in such register.  
Lessee agrees to execute all documents, including notices of assignment and chattel mortgages or 
financing statements that may be reasonably requested by Lessor or any assignee to protect its 
interest in the Equipment and in this Agreement and agrees to the filing of financing statements 
with respect to the Equipment and this Agreement.  Lessee will not have the right to and will not 
assert against any assignee any claim, counterclaim, defense, set-off or other right Lessee may 
have against Lessor.

Section 34.  Assignment and Subleasing by Lessee.  None of Lessee’s right, title and 
interest in, to and under this Agreement and the Equipment may be assigned or encumbered by 



13

Lessee for any reason, except that Lessee may sublease all or part of the Equipment if Lessee 
obtains the prior written consent of Lessor and an opinion of nationally recognized counsel in the 
area of tax exempt municipal obligations satisfactory to Lessor that such subleasing will not 
adversely affect the exclusion of the interest components of the Rental Payments from gross 
income for federal income tax purposes.  Any such sublease of all or part of the Equipment will 
be subject to this Agreement and the rights of Lessor in, to and under this Agreement and the 
Equipment.

Section 35.  Events of Default Defined.  Subject to the provisions of Section 8, any of 
the following will be “Events of Default” under this Agreement:

(a) Failure by Lessee to pay any Rental Payment or other payment required to be paid 
hereunder at the time specified herein;

(b) Failure by Lessee to observe and perform any covenant, condition or agreement 
on its part to be observed or performed, other than as referred to in Section 35(a), for a period of 
30 days after written notice, specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, is given 
to Lessee by Lessor, unless Lessor will agree in writing to an extension of such time prior to its 
expiration; provided, however, if the failure stated in the notice cannot be corrected within the 
applicable period, Lessor will not unreasonably withhold its consent to an extension of such time 
if corrective action is instituted by Lessee within the applicable period and diligently pursued 
until the default is corrected;

(c) Any statement, representation or warranty made by Lessee in or pursuant to this 
Agreement or its execution, delivery or performance will prove to have been false, incorrect, 
misleading or breached in any material respect on the date when made;

(d) Any provision of this Agreement will at any time for any reason cease to be valid 
and binding on Lessee, or will be declared to be null and void, or the validity or enforceability 
thereof will be contested by Lessee or any governmental agency or authority if the loss of such 
provision would materially adversely affect the rights or security of Lessor, or Lessee will deny 
that it has any further liability or obligation under this Agreement;

(e) Lessee will (i) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, 
custodian or liquidator of Lessee, or of all or a substantial part of the assets of Lessee, (ii) be 
unable, fail or admit in writing its inability generally to pay its debts as they become due, (iii) 
make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (iv) have an order for relief entered 
against it under applicable federal bankruptcy law, or (v) file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy 
or a petition or an answer seeking reorganization or an arrangement with creditors or taking 
advantage of any insolvency law or any answer admitting the material allegations of a petition 
filed against Lessee in any bankruptcy, reorganization or insolvency proceeding; or



14

(f) An order, judgment or decree will be entered by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, approving a petition or appointing a receiver, trustee, custodian or liquidator of 
Lessee or of all or a substantial part of the assets of Lessee, in each case without its application, 
approval or consent, and such order, judgment or decree will continue unstayed and in effect for 
any period of 30 consecutive days.

Section 36.  Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default exists, Lessor will 
have the right, at its sole option without any further demand or notice, to take one or any 
combination of the following remedial steps:

(a) With or without terminating this Agreement, Lessor may enter the premises where 
the Equipment is located and retake possession of the Equipment or require Lessee at Lessee’s 
expense to promptly return any or all of the Equipment to the possession of Lessor at a place 
specified by Lessor, and sell or lease the Equipment or, for the account of Lessee, sublease the 
Equipment, holding Lessee liable for the difference between (i) the Rental Payments and other 
amounts payable by Lessee hereunder plus the applicable Purchase Price, and (ii) the net proceeds 
of any such sale, lease or sublease (after deducting all expenses of Lessor in exercising its remedies 
under this Agreement, including without limitation, all expenses of taking possession, storing, 
reconditioning and selling or leasing the Equipment and all brokerage, auctioneers’ and attorneys’ 
fees) provided that the amount of Lessee’s liability under this subparagraph (a) shall not exceed the 
Rental Payments and other amounts otherwise due hereunder plus the remaining Rental Payments 
and other amounts payable by Lessee to the end of the Lease Term; and

(b) Lessor may take whatever other action at law or in equity, including mandamus, 
as may appear necessary or desirable to enforce its rights as the owner of the Equipment.

In addition, Lessee will remain liable for all covenants and indemnities under this 
Agreement and for all legal fees and other costs and expenses, including court costs, incurred by 
Lessor with respect to the enforcement of any of the remedies listed above or any other remedy 
available to Lessor.

Section 37.  No Remedy Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to 
Lessor is intended to be exclusive and every such remedy will be cumulative and will be in 
addition to every other remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or 
in equity.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default will 
impair any such right or power or will be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right and 
power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.  In order to 
entitle Lessor to exercise any remedy reserved to it in this Agreement it will not be necessary to 
give any notice, other than such notice as may be required in this Agreement.

Section 38.  WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY
LAW, EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO EXPRESSLY WAIVES THE RIGHT TO 
TRIAL BY JURY IN RESOLVING ANY CLAIM OR COUNTERCLAIM RELATING 
TO OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT.

Section 39.  Notices.  All notices, certificates or other communications hereunder will be 
sufficiently given and will be deemed given when delivered or mailed by registered mail, 



15

postage prepaid, to the parties at the addresses immediately after the signatures to this 
Agreement (or at such other address as either party hereto will designate in writing to the other 
for notices to such party), to any assignee at its address as it appears on the register maintained 
by Lessee.

Section 40.  Binding Effect.  This Agreement will inure to the benefit of and will be 
binding upon Lessor and Lessee and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 41.  Severability.  In the event any provision of this Agreement will be held 
invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding will not invalidate 
or render unenforceable any other provision hereof.

Section 42.  Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between Lessor and Lessee.

Section 43.  Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended, changed or modified in 
any manner by written agreement of Lessor and Lessee. Any waiver of any provision of this 
Agreement or any right or remedy hereunder must be affirmatively and expressly made in 
writing and will not be implied from inaction, course of dealing or otherwise.

Section 44.  Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be simultaneously 
executed in several counterparts, each of which will be an original and all of which will 
constitute but one and the same instrument.

Section 45.  Captions.  The captions or headings in this Agreement are for convenience 
only and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provisions or sections of 
this Agreement.

Section 46.  Applicable Law.  This Agreement will be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State.

Section 47.  Electronic Transactions.  The parties agree that the transaction described 
herein may be conducted and related documents may be stored by electronic means.  Copies, 
telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original executed documents 
shall be deemed to be authentic and valid counterparts of such original documents for all 
purposes, including the filing of any claim, action or suit in the appropriate court of law.

Section 48.  Role of Lessor.  Lessor has not acted and will not act as a fiduciary for 
Lessee or as Lessee’s agent or municipal advisor.  Lessor has not and will not provide financial, 
legal, tax, accounting or other advice to Lessee or to any financial advisor or placement agent 
engaged by Lessee with respect to this Agreement.  Lessee, its financial advisor, placement agent 
or municipal advisor, if any, shall each seek and obtain its own financial, legal, tax, accounting 
and other advice with respect to this Agreement from its own advisors (including as it relates to 
structure, timing, terms and similar matters).

Section 49.  Participation of Agreement from Lessor to SNFC.  Lessor hereby notifies 
Lessee, and Lessee hereby acknowledges and consents to such notification, that simultaneously 
with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, Lessor will enter into a participation 



16

agreement with Sterling National Funding Corp., a New York corporation and a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Lessor (“SNFC”), whereby Lessor will assign to SNFC a 100% participation 
interest in this Agreement at par.  Lessor will continue to service this Agreement and collect all 
Rental Payments and payment of the Purchase Price hereunder.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW.]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor and Lessee have caused this Agreement to be 
executed in their corporate names by their duly authorized officers as of the date first above 
written.

STERLING NATIONAL BANK

By:  
Name: Troy Grasinger
Title: Managing Director
Address: 1412 Broadway, 7th Floor

New York, NY 10018
Attention: NYC Team 114

SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO

By:  
Name:
Title:
Address: 1500 Idalia Road, Building D, 

Bernalillo, NM 87004



EXHIBIT A TO
EQUIPMENT LEASE-PURCHASE AGREEMENT

EQUIPMENT SCHEDULE

Equipment Description:
The Equipment consists of energy savings improvements set forth in the Guaranteed Utility Savings 
Contract dated ___________________, 20__, between Lessee and [Name of Vendor], as described 
in and at the locations listed therein, together with any and all replacement parts, additions, repairs, 
modifications, attachments and accessories thereto, any and all substitutions, replacements or 
exchanges therefor, and any and all insurance and/or proceeds thereof.  See also “Scope of Work” 
attached hereto for a further description of the Equipment.

Locations:
The Equipment will be located at the following locations:

_____________________________
_____________________________
_____________________________

_____________________________
_____________________________
_____________________________

_____________________________
_____________________________
_____________________________

Vendor:

The Vendor for the Equipment is [Name of Vendor], ____________________________________.

This Equipment Schedule shall be deemed to be supplemented by the descriptions of the Equipment 
included in the Certificate of Acceptance and Payment Requests submitted to Sterling National 
Bank, as escrow agent, pursuant to the Escrow Agreement dated as of [Dated Date], among Lessor, 
Lessee and Sterling National Bank, as escrow agent, which descriptions shall be deemed to be 
incorporated herein.

Please provide list of facilities at which the 
energy savings improvements will be 
installed, including addresses.



EXHIBIT B TO
EQUIPMENT LEASE-PURCHASE AGREEMENT

PAYMENT SCHEDULE

Principal Amount:  $[Principal Amount]
Interest Rate:  _____%
Closing Date:  [Dated Date]
Rental payments will be made in accordance with Section 9 and this Payment Schedule.

Rental
Payment Date

Total
Rental Payment

Principal
Portion

Interest
Portion

Purchase
Price

[To be provided by Lessor.]

SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO

By:  
Name: 
Title: 



_______________
* Lessee may exercise its option to purchase pursuant to Section 31(b) of the Agreement at any 

time; option to purchase pursuant to Section 31(a) of the Agreement may be exercised on 
December 1, 2022, and any Rental Payment Date thereafter.



EXHIBIT C TO
EQUIPMENT LEASE-PURCHASE AGREEMENT

GUARANTEED COST SAVINGS

[To be provided by Vendor.]



ESCROW AGREEMENT

LESSOR:
Sterling National Bank
1412 Broadway, 7th Floor
New York, NY  10018
Attention:  NYC Team 114

ESCROW AGENT:
Sterling National Bank
400 Rella Boulevard
Montebello, NY  10901
Attention:  Commercial Loan Department

LESSEE:
Sandoval County, New Mexico
1500 Idalia Road, Building D
Bernalillo, NM  87004

THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT (this “Escrow Agreement”) dated July 20, 2017, is 
entered into by and among Sterling National Bank (in its capacity as lessor, “Lessor”), Sandoval 
County, New Mexico (“Lessee”), and Sterling National Bank (in its capacity as escrow agent, 
the “Escrow Agent”).

Lessor and Lessee have heretofore entered into that certain Equipment Lease-Purchase 
Agreement dated as of July 20, 2017(the “Agreement”).  The Agreement contemplates that 
certain Equipment described therein (the “Equipment”) is to be acquired from the vendor(s) or 
manufacturer(s) thereof. 

After acceptance of the Equipment by Lessee, the Equipment is to be leased by Lessor to 
Lessee pursuant to the terms of the Agreement.

The Agreement contemplates that Lessor will deposit with the Escrow Agent cash in the 
amount of $6,700,000, to be held in escrow by the Escrow Agent and applied on the express 
terms and conditions set forth herein.  Such deposit, together with all interest and additions 
received with respect thereto (hereinafter, the “Escrow Fund”), is to be applied from time to time 
to pay certain costs of acquiring the Equipment (a portion of which may be paid in multiple 
payments and prior to acceptance of all Equipment by Lessee) and, if requested by Lessee and 
approved by Lessor, to pay certain costs of entering into the Agreement. 

The parties desire to set forth the terms on which the escrow is to be created and to 
establish the rights and responsibilities of the parties hereto.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

1. Each of Lessor and Lessee hereby appoint, and the Escrow Agent hereby agrees, 
to serve as escrow agent upon the express terms and conditions set forth herein.  The Escrow 
Agent agrees that the Escrow Fund shall be held irrevocably in trust for the account and benefit 
of Lessee and Lessor and all interest earned with respect to the Escrow Fund shall accrue to the 
benefit of Lessee and shall be applied as expressly set forth herein.



-2-

To the limited extent required to perfect the security interest granted by Lessee to Lessor 
in the cash and negotiable instruments from time to time comprising the Escrow Fund, Lessor 
hereby appoints the Escrow Agent as its security agent, and the Escrow Agent hereby accepts the 
appointment as security agent, and agrees to hold physical possession of such cash and 
negotiable instruments on behalf of Lessor.

2. On such day as determined to the mutual satisfaction of the parties (the 
“Commencement Date”), Lessor shall deposit with the Escrow Agent cash in the amount of 
$6,700,000, to be held by the Escrow Agent on the express terms and conditions set forth herein.  
The Escrow Agent agrees to accept the deposit of the Escrow Fund by Lessor, and further agrees 
to hold the amount so deposited together with all interest and other additions received with 
respect thereto in escrow on the express terms and conditions set forth herein.

3. The Escrow Agent shall at all times segregate the Escrow Fund into an account 
maintained for that express purpose, which shall be clearly identified on the books and records of 
the Escrow Agent as being held in its capacity as Escrow Agent.  Securities and other negotiable 
instruments comprising the Escrow Fund from time to time shall be held or registered in the 
name of the Escrow Agent (or its nominee).  The Escrow Fund shall not, to the extent permitted 
by applicable law, be subject to levy or attachment or lien by or for the benefit of any creditor of 
any of the parties hereto (except with respect to the security interest therein held by Lessor).

4. Lessee hereby directs the Escrow Agent to invest the cash comprising the Escrow 
Fund from time to time in Qualified Investments (as hereinafter defined).  Interest or other 
amounts earned and received by the Escrow Agent with respect to the Escrow Fund shall be 
deposited in and comprise a part of the Escrow Fund.  No investment shall be made that would 
cause the Agreement to be deemed to be an arbitrage bond within the meaning of Section 148(a) 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  For purposes of this paragraph 
4, the term “Qualified Investments” means the Money Market Fund #________ [To be 
completed by Escrow Agent], or a demand deposit account created by the Escrow Agent, neither 
of which is secured by any collateral, or such other investments as Lessee may specify in writing 
to and such writing is actually received by Escrow Agent, to the extent the same are at the time 
legal for investment of the funds being invested.  

5. Lessor and Lessee hereby authorize the Escrow Agent to take the following 
actions with respect to the Escrow Fund:

a. From time to time, the Escrow Agent shall pay the vendor or manufacturer 
of the Equipment or Lessee or other payee upon receipt of the following:  (a) a duly executed 
Certificate of Acceptance and Payment Request in the form attached as Exhibit A to this Escrow 
Agreement approved for payment by Lessor, (b) the vendor(s) or manufacturer(s) invoice(s) 
specifying the acquisition price of the Equipment described in the requisition request, (c) in the 
event that certain costs of entering into the Agreement are described in the requisition request, 
invoice(s), budget(s), closing statement(s) or other additional documentation specifying the 
amount(s) of such costs, and (d) any additional documentation required by Lessor prior to 
Lessor’s approval of such requisition request.  Lessor’s approval on the Certificate of 
Acceptance and Payment Request in each case shall be conclusive evidence that all invoices, 



-3-

budgets, closing statements and any additional documentation requirements have been received 
by and are acceptable to Lessor for payment purposes.  Without limiting the foregoing, Lessor 
shall not approve any such payment unless and until Lessee shall have provided to Lessor (i) 
certificates of insurance evidencing coverage in accordance with Section 22 of the Agreement 
and satisfactory to Lessor, and (ii) a payment and performance bond naming Lessor as a dual 
obligee and issued by a surety company rated “A” or better by AM Best in form and substance 
satisfactory to Lessor.

b. In the event that Lessor provides to the Escrow Agent and Escrow Agent 
actually receives written notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default as defined in the 
Agreement, the Escrow Agent shall thereupon promptly remit to Lessor the entire balance of the 
Escrow Fund after application of the Escrow Fund to all reasonable fees and expenses incurred 
by the Escrow Agent in connection herewith as evidenced by its statement forwarded to Lessor 
and Lessee.

c. Upon actual receipt by the Escrow Agent of a duly executed Certificate of 
Acceptance and Payment Request identified as the final such request, the remaining monies in 
the Escrow Fund shall, first be applied to all reasonable fees and expenses incurred by the 
Escrow Agent, if applicable, in connection herewith as evidenced by its statement forwarded to 
Lessor and Lessee; and, second be paid to Lessor, for application against the outstanding 
principal components of Rental Payments (as defined in the Agreement), including prepayment 
of Rental Payments under the Agreement, as provided therein, unless Lessor directs that payment 
of such amount be made in such other manner directed by Lessor that, in the opinion of 
nationally recognized counsel in the area of tax-exempt municipal obligations satisfactory to 
Lessor, will not adversely affect the exclusion of the interest components of Rental Payments 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes. If any such amount is used to prepay 
principal, the Payment Schedule attached to the Agreement will be revised accordingly as 
specified by Lessor.  

d. Lessor and Lessee agree that the security procedures under this Section 5 
are commercially reasonable.

e. In the event that Escrow Agent makes any payment to any payee pursuant 
to this Escrow Agreement and for any reason such payment (or any portion thereof) is required 
to be returned to the Escrow Fund or is subsequently invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or 
preferential, set aside and/or required to be repaid to a receiver, trustee or other party under any 
bankruptcy or insolvency law, other federal or state law, common law or equitable doctrine, then 
the party who benefited from the payment to the payee shall repay to Escrow Agent upon written 
request the amount so paid to the payee.  Escrow Agent shall not be liable to any party or any 
other person by reason of such payment.

6. The reasonable fees and expenses of the Escrow Agent incurred in connection 
herewith shall be the responsibility of Lessee and are herein further described on Schedule 1. 



-4-

7.

a. The Escrow Agent shall have no liability for acting upon any written 
instruction presented by Lessee and Lessor in connection with this Escrow Agreement which the 
Escrow Agent in good faith believes to be genuine.  Furthermore, the Escrow Agent shall not be 
liable for any act or omission in connection with this Escrow Agreement except for its own 
negligence or willful misconduct.  The Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any loss or 
diminution in value of the Escrow Fund as a result of the investment decisions made pursuant to 
Section 4, Qualified Investments at the direction of Lessee.  Escrow Agent shall have only those 
duties and responsibilities as expressly set forth herein, and no other duty, obligation or 
covenant, fiduciary or otherwise, shall be implied or enforceable against Escrow Agent by any 
person.

b. Without limiting the effect of Section 7(a) hereof, Escrow Agent shall 
have no obligation or liability to any other party hereto (or any person claiming through any of 
them): (i) to review, examine, enforce, administer or take notice of any agreement, instrument or 
document other than this Escrow Agreement; (ii) to determine whether any conditions precedent 
to a disbursement of Escrow Funds, other than as set forth in Section 5, have been or will be 
satisfied or otherwise to investigate any notice received by Escrow Agent hereunder; (iii) to 
evaluate or determine the validity or legality of any action or omission of any third party, 
including any federal or state bank regulator; (iv) to make any payment to the other parties or 
other payees set forth in written instructions received under Section 5 from any source other than 
the Escrow Funds, and no such payment shall be made if the amount of Escrow Funds is 
inadequate; (v) to communicate with any person other than as expressly provided for in this 
Escrow Agreement; (vi) for any action or omission of Escrow Agent taken or made upon the oral 
or written, joint instructions of the parties hereto; (vii) for any other action or omission of, or for 
errors in judgment by, Escrow Agent under or in connection with this Escrow Agreement taken 
or made in good faith and without gross negligence or willful misconduct; and (viii) for special, 
incidental, consequential, indirect or punitive damages in any event, even if Escrow Agent has 
been advised or was otherwise aware of the likelihood of such loss or damages and regardless of 
the form of action.

8. From and to the extent of legally available Pledged Energy Cost Savings 
Revenues (as defined in the Agreement), to the extent authorized by law, Lessee hereby agrees to 
indemnify and save the Escrow Agent harmless against any liabilities which it may incur in the 
exercise and performance of its powers and duties hereunder and which are not due to the 
Escrow Agent’s negligence or willful misconduct.  No indemnification will be made under this 
Section or elsewhere in this Escrow Agreement to the extent damages arise out of negligence or 
willful misconduct by the Escrow Agent, its officers, agents, employees, successors or assigns.

9. The Escrow Agent may at any time resign by giving at least 30 days’ prior written 
notice to Lessee and Lessor, but such resignation shall not take effect until the appointment of 
the successor Escrow Agent.  The substitution of another bank or trust company to act as Escrow 
Agent under this Escrow Agreement may occur by written agreement of Lessor and Lessee.  In 
addition, the Escrow Agent may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by instrument in 
writing executed by Lessor and Lessee.  Such notice shall set forth the effective date of the 



-5-

removal.  In the event of any resignation or removal of the Escrow Agent, a successor Escrow 
Agent shall be appointed by an instrument in writing executed by Lessor and Lessee.  Such 
successor Escrow Agent shall indicate its acceptance of such appointment by an instrument in 
writing delivered to Lessor, Lessee and the predecessor Escrow Agent.

Upon the effective date of resignation or removal, the Escrow Agent will transfer the 
Escrow Fund then held by it to the successor Escrow Agent selected by Lessor and Lessee.

If Lessor and Lessee are unable to agree upon a successor escrow agent within 30 days 
after such notice, the parties hereby agree that either of them acting unilaterally shall apply to a 
court of competent jurisdiction within the State of New Mexico for the appointment of a 
successor escrow agent or for other appropriate relief.  The costs and expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred by Escrow Agent in connection with such 
proceeding shall be paid in accordance with Section 6.

10. In the event of any dispute with respect to the Escrow Funds, the interpretation of 
this Escrow Agreement or the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder, or to the propriety 
of any action contemplated by Escrow Agent hereunder, or if Escrow Agent in good faith is in 
doubt as to what action should be taken hereunder, then in any such case Escrow Agent shall not 
be obligated to resolve the dispute or disagreement or to make any disbursement of all or any 
portion of the Escrow Funds, but may commence an action in the nature of an interpleader and 
seek to deposit such funds with a court of competent jurisdiction within the State of New 
Mexico, and thereby shall be discharged from any further duty or obligation with respect to any 
Escrow Funds.  The costs of such interpleader action shall be borne by Lessee. In the event 
Lessee shall fail on demand to reimburse Escrow Agent for such costs, then Lessee irrevocably 
authorizes Escrow Agent to deduct any such amounts from the Escrow Fund without any further 
notice or demand to any person. Escrow Agent may, in its sole discretion in lieu of filing such 
action in interpleader, elect to cease to perform under this Agreement and to ignore all 
instructions received in connection herewith until Escrow Agent has received a written notice of 
resolution signed by the parties to such dispute or disagreement or an order of a court of 
competent jurisdiction over the matter directing a disposition of the Escrow Funds.

11. This Escrow Agreement and the Escrow Fund established hereunder shall 
terminate upon receipt by the Escrow Agent of the written notice from Lessor specified in 
Section 5(b) or Section 5(c) hereof.

12. All notices hereunder shall be in writing, sent by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, or by mutually recognized overnight carrier addressed to the other parties at their 
respective addresses shown on page 1 of this Escrow Agreement or at such other address as each 
such party shall from time to time designate in writing to the other parties; and shall be effective 
on the date or receipt.  In addition, all notices sent to the Escrow Agent shall also be sent as 
follows:



-6-

Sterling National Bank
21 Scarsdale Road
Yonkers, NY 10707
Attention:  Office of the General Counsel

13. This Escrow Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the 
parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.  No rights or obligations of the Escrow 
Agent under this Escrow Agreement may be assigned without the prior written consent of Lessor 
and Lessee.

14. Except as provided in the next sentence, this Escrow Agreement constitutes the 
entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and no 
waiver, consent, modification or change of terms hereof shall bind any party unless in writing 
signed by all parties.  This Escrow Agreement is in addition to any related account applications 
and other account opening and authorizing documents and/or resolutions on file with Escrow 
Agent and such documents are hereby incorporated by reference into this Agreement (the 
“Account Agreements”). In the event that there are inconsistencies between this Agreement and 
any other Account Agreement, the terms of this Escrow Agreement shall control. 

15. The Escrow Agent may employ agents, attorneys and accountants in connection 
with its duties hereunder (such costs to be paid as set forth in Section 6) and shall not be liable 
for any action taken or omitted in good faith in accordance with the advice of counsel, 
accountants or other skilled persons.

16. This Escrow Agreement shall be governed by and be construed and interpreted in 
accordance with the internal laws of the State of New Mexico (the “State”).  In addition, the 
parties agree that the transaction described herein may be conducted and related documents may 
be stored by electronic means.  Copies, telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other 
reproductions of original executed documents shall be deemed to be authentic and valid 
counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the filing of any claim, action 
or suit in the appropriate court of law.

17. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.  TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, 
EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO EXPRESSLY WAIVES THE RIGHT TO TRIAL 
BY JURY IN RESOLVING ANY CLAIM OR COUNTERCLAIM RELATING TO OR 
ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT.

18. Lessee represents, warrants and covenants for the benefit of Escrow Agent as 
follows:

a. Lessee is authorized under the constitution and laws of the State to enter 
into this Escrow Agreement and the transaction contemplated hereby and to perform all of its 
obligations hereunder.

b. Lessee has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Escrow 
Agreement by proper action and approval of its governing body at a meeting duly called, regularly 



-7-

convened and attended throughout by a requisite majority of the members thereof or by other 
appropriate official approval.

c. This Escrow Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation 
of Lessee enforceable in accordance with its terms, except to the extent limited by applicable 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.

d. Lessee will comply with all applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended, including without limitation Sections 103 and 148 thereof, and the 
applicable regulations of the Treasury Department.  No part of the Escrow Fund shall be invested 
at Lessee’s discretion in any securities, obligations or other investments or used, at any time, 
directly or indirectly, in a manner which, if such use had been reasonably anticipated on the date of 
issuance of the Agreement, would have caused any portion of the Agreement to be or become 
“arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 103(b)(2) or Section 148 of the Code and the 
applicable regulations of the Treasury Department.

19. The parties acknowledge that in order to help the United States government fight 
the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, pursuant to Federal regulations that 
became effective on October 1, 2003 (Section 326 of the USA PATRIOT Act) all financial 
institutions are required to obtain, verify, record and update information that identifies each 
person establishing a relationship or opening an account.  The parties to this Escrow Agreement 
agree that they will provide to the Escrow Agent such information as it may request, from time to 
time, in order for the Escrow Agent to satisfy the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act, 
including but not limited to the name, address, tax identification number and other information 
that will allow it to identify the individual or entity who is establishing the relationship or 
opening the account and may also ask for formation documents such as articles of incorporation 
or other identifying documents to be provided.

20. With respect to the Agreement, Sterling National Bank shall have the same rights 
and powers under the Agreement as any other lessor and may exercise the same as though it 
were not Escrow Agent.  Lessor may lend money to, invest in, and generally engage in any kind 
of business with Lessee, all as if Sterling National Bank were not Escrow Agent.  Lessee 
acknowledges the potential conflict of interest between Sterling National Bank as Lessor and 
Sterling National Bank as Escrow Agent.

[Signature page follows.]



-8-

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Escrow Agreement to be 
duly executed as of the day and year first above set forth.

LESSOR: STERLING NATIONAL BANK

By: 
Name: Troy Grasinger
Title:  Managing Director

LESSEE: SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO

By: 
Name: Don Chapman
Title:  Chairman, County Commission

ESCROW AGENT: STERLING NATIONAL BANK

By: 
Name:
Title:  

Y:\dox\client\84943\0021\GENERAL\W2966568.DOCX



A-1

EXHIBIT A

CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE AND PAYMENT REQUEST

Sterling National Bank (in its capacity as escrow agent, the “Escrow Agent”), as escrow agent 
under that certain Escrow Agreement dated July 20, 2017 (the “Escrow Agreement”), by and among 
Sandoval County, New Mexico (“Lessee”), Sterling National Bank (in its capacity as lessor, “Lessor”) 
and the Escrow Agent, is hereby requested to pay from the Escrow Fund (as defined in the Escrow 
Agreement) established and maintained thereunder, the amount set forth below to the named payee(s).  
The equipment and costs described below are (i) part or all of the Equipment listed in the Equipment 
Schedule to that certain Equipment Lease Purchase Agreement dated as of July 20, 2017 (the 
“Agreement”), between Lessor and Lessee, or (ii) certain costs of entering into the Agreement.  The 
amount shown is due and payable under (i) a purchase order or contract (or has been paid by and not 
previously reimbursed to Lessee), or (ii) invoices, budgets, closing statements or any other additional 
documentation.

QUANTITY

DESCRIPTION OF

EQUIPMENT OR 

FINANCING COST AMOUNT PAYEE*

Lessee hereby certifies and represents to and agrees with Lessor as follows:  (i) the Equipment 
described above has been delivered and installed at the location(s) set forth in the Equipment Schedule; 
(ii) a present need exists for such Equipment which need is not temporary or expected to diminish in the 
near future; (iii) such Equipment is essential to and will be used by Lessee only for the purpose of 
performing one or more governmental functions of Lessee consistent with the permissible scope of 
Lessee’s authority; (iv) the estimated useful life of such Equipment based upon the manufacturer’s 
representations and Lessee’s projected needs is not less than the term of lease with respect to such
Equipment; (v) Lessee has conducted such inspection and/or testing of such Equipment as it deems 
necessary and appropriate and hereby acknowledges that it accepts such Equipment for all purposes as of 
the date of this Certificate; (vi) such Equipment is covered by insurance in the types and amounts required 
by the Agreement; and (vii) no Event of Default, as such term is defined in the Agreement and no event 
which with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event of Default under the 
Agreement, has occurred and is continuing on the date hereof.

Based on the foregoing, Escrow Agent is hereby authorized and directed to fund the acquisition of 
the Equipment set forth in the Agreement by paying, or causing to be paid, the manufacturer(s)/vendor(s), 
Lessee or other payee(s) the amounts set forth on the attached invoices from the Escrow Fund held under 
the Escrow Agreement in accordance with its terms.

The following documents are attached hereto and made a part hereof: (a) Original Invoice(s); 
and/or (b) Copies of Certificate(s) of Origin, when applicable, designating Lessor as lienholder if any part 
of the Equipment consists of motor vehicles, and evidence of filing.

IF REQUEST IS FOR REIMBURSEMENT, CHECK HERE .  Lessee paid an invoice prior to 
the commencement date identified in the Equipment Schedule and is requesting reimbursement for such 
payment.  A copy of evidence of such payment, together with a copy of Lessee’s Declaration of Official 
Intent and any other evidence required by Lessor prior to Lessor’s approval hereof that Lessee has 
satisfied the requirements for reimbursement set forth in Treas. Reg. 1.150-2, is hereby attached.  Lessor’s 



A-1

approval hereof shall evidence that Lessee has delivered to Lessor such required documentation. [THIS 
PROBABLY IS NOT APPLICABLE]

IF REQUEST IS FINAL REQUEST, CHECK HERE .  Lessee hereby certifies that the items of 
Equipment described above, together with the items of Equipment described in and accepted by 
Certificates of Acceptance and Payment Requests previously filed by Lessee and Lessor with Escrow 
Agent constitutes all of the Equipment subject to the Equipment Schedule.

Date: _________________, 20___.

Approved for Payment:
STERLING NATIONAL BANK, as Lessor
and servicer for STERLING NATIONAL 
FUNDING CORP.

SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO, as Lessee

By: 
______________________________________

By: 
_____________________________________________

Name: 
___________________________________

Name: 
___________________________________________

Title: 
___________________________________

Title: 
___________________________________________

_____________
*  If required, a current IRS Form W-9 for the payee is attached or an IRS Form W-9 has been previously 

submitted to the Escrow Agent.



A-1

SCHEDULE 1

Attached to and made a part of the Escrow Agreement (the “Escrow Agreement”) dated July 20, 
2017, by and among Sterling National Bank (in its capacity as lessor, “Lessor”), Sandoval 
County, New Mexico, as Lessee, and Sterling National Bank (in its capacity as escrow agent, the 
“Escrow Agent”).

A. Based upon our current understanding of your proposed transaction, the proposed 
services are as follows, which shall be the responsibility of Lessee:  $0

1. New Account Acceptance 
Encompassing review, negotiation and execution of governing documentation, opening of the 
account, and completion of all due diligence documentation.  

2. Monthly Administration 
Covering our usual and customary ministerial duties, including record keeping, distributions, 
document compliance and such other duties and responsibilities expressly set forth in the 
governing documents for each transaction.    

B. Extraordinary Services and Out-of-Pocket Expenses
Any additional services beyond our standard services as specified above, and all reasonable out-
of-pocket expenses including attorney’s or accountant’s fees and expenses will be considered 
extraordinary services for which related costs, transaction charges, and additional fees may be 
billed at Escrow Agent’s then standard rate.  Disbursements, receipts, investments or tax 
reporting exceeding 25 items per year may be treated as extraordinary services.



 

1 

 
 

SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 10-19-17.9A 

RELATING TO THE SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO ENERGY 
EFFICIENCY LEASE-PURCHASE AGREEMENT (THE “AGREEMENT”); 

ESTABLISHING THE EXACT AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF 
THE AGREEMENT OF SIX MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED THOUSAND AND 

NO/100 DOLLARS ($6,700,000), RENTAL PAYMENT DATES, RATE OF 
INTEREST, REDEMPTION FEATURES, AND OTHER TERMS WITH 
RESPECT TO THE AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH ORDINANCE 

NO. 6-15-17.8A ADOPTED ON JUNE 15, 2017; APPROVING THE 
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A GUARANTEED UTILITY SAVINGS 

CONTRACT AND AN ESCROW AGREEMENT IN CONNECTION WITH 
THE AGREEMENT; RATIFYING CERTAIN ACTIONS HERETOFORE 
TAKEN; AND REPEALING ALL ACTION INCONSISTENT WITH THIS 

RESOLUTION. 
 

 All terms not defined herein shall have the meanings given them in Ordinance No. 6-15-
17.8A (the “Parameters Ordinance” or the “Ordinance”) adopted by the Board on June 15, 2017. 
 

 WHEREAS, on June 15, 2017, pursuant to the Act, the Board adopted the Parameters 
Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Sandoval County, New Mexico Energy Efficiency 

Lease-Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”), (ii) a Guaranteed Utility Savings Contract and 
(iii) an Escrow Agreement, and providing for the adoption of this resolution (the “Final Terms 
Resolution”) setting forth certain details with respect to the Agreement; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the County has received an offer to enter into the Agreement from the 

Lessor; and 
 

WHEREAS, there has been on deposit with the County Clerk and presented to the Board: 

 
  (A) the proposed form of the Agreement; 

 
  (B) the proposed form of a Guaranteed Utility Savings Contract; and 
 

  (C) the proposed form of Escrow Agreement;  
 

  and 
 



 

2 

 WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interest of the County to 
proceed with the Project by adoption of this Resolution. 

 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW 

MEXICO: 
 
 Section 1. Ratification.  All action not inconsistent with the provisions of this Sale 

Resolution heretofore taken by the Board and the officials of the County directed toward the 
execution and delivery of the Agreement, the Guaranteed Utility Savings Contract and the 

Escrow Agreement is hereby ratified, approved and confirmed. 
 

Section 2. Details of the Agreement, Guaranteed Utility Savings Contract and 

Escrow Agreement.  The forms and terms of the Agreement, Guaranteed Utility Savings 
Contract and Escrow Agreement, as presented at the meeting at which this Resolution is adopted, 

are hereby approved.  The Agreement shall be issued in the aggregate principal amount of 
$6,700,000.00, shall be dated its date of execution and delivery to the Lessor, shall bear interest 
from the date of delivery, at the rate described in the Agreement, payable on the dates set forth in 

the Agreement.  The Guaranteed Utility Savings Contract shall not be executed unless and until 
all certifications and approvals from the New Mexico Energy, Minerals and Natural Resources 

Department are obtained. 

 Section 3. Net Effective Interest Rate.  The net effective interest rate on the 
Agreement is _____%, which is less than 12% as required by the Parameters Ordinance.     

 
 Section 4. Terms of Documents within Parameters of Ordinance.  It is hereby found 

and determined that the above terms established for the Agreement, Guaranteed Utility Savings 
Contract and Escrow Agreement are within the parameters established by the Parameters 
Ordinance. 

 
 Section 5. Authorization of Officers.  The officers of the County, including without 

limitation, the Chairman, Manager, Treasurer and Clerk be, and they hereby are, authorized and 
directed to take all action necessary or appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this  
Resolution, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the signature and 

distribution of materials relating to the Agreement, as may be required by the Lessor or bond 
counsel.   

 
 Section 6. Repealer.  All bylaws, ordinances and resolutions, or parts thereof, 
inconsistent herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such inconsistency.  This repealer shall 

not be construed as reviving any bylaw, order, or resolution, or part thereof, heretofore repealed. 
 

 Section 7. Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision hereof shall be 
held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, paragraph, 
clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Resolution. 

 
 Section 8. Publication.  A title and general summary of the subject matter contained 

in this Resolution shall be published in substantially the following form after adoption of this 
Resolution: 



 

3 

 
[Form of Summary of Sale Resolution for Publication] 

 
Sandoval County, New Mexico 

Notice of Adoption of Sale Resolution 
 
 Notice is hereby given of the title and of a general summary of the subject matter 

contained in a resolution duly adopted and approved by the Board of County Commissioners of 
Sandoval County, New Mexico on July 13, 2017, relating to the details of the County’s Energy 

Efficiency Lease-Purchase Agreement as authorized pursuant to its Ordinance No. 6-15-17.8A 
duly adopted by the Board on June 15, 2017.  Complete copies of the Resolution are available 
for public inspection during the normal and regular business hours of the County Clerk, 1500 

Idalia Road, Building D, Bernalillo, New Mexico. 
 

 The title of the Resolution is: 
 

RELATING TO THE SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO ENERGY 

EFFICIENCY LEASE-PURCHASE AGREEMENT (THE “AGREEMENT”); 
ESTABLISHING THE EXACT AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF 

THE AGREEMENT OF SIX MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED THOUSAND AND 
NO/100 DOLLARS ($6,700,000), RENTAL PAYMENT DATES, RATE OF 
INTEREST, REDEMPTION FEATURES, AND OTHER TERMS WITH 

RESPECT TO THE AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH ORDINANCE 
NO. 6-15-17.8A ADOPTED ON JUNE 15, 2017; APPROVING THE 

EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A GUARANTEED UTILITY SAVINGS 
CONTRACT AND AN ESCROW AGREEMENT IN CONNECITON WITH 
THE AGREEMENT; RATIFYING CERTAIN ACTIONS HERETOFORE 

TAKEN; AND REPEALING ALL ACTION INCONSISTENT WITH THIS 
RESOLUTION. 

 
 The title sets forth a general summary of the subject matter contained in the Resolution. 

[End of Form of Summary for Publication] 

 Section 9. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its 
adoption and approval by the Board and be supplemental to the Parameters Ordinance. 



 

4 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 19th day of October, 2017.   
   

 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

      SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 

 
 

 
             
      Don G. Chapman, Chairman 

 
 

 
             
ATTEST:     David J. Heil, Vice Chairman 

 
 

 
             
Eileen Garbagni, County Clerk  Jay C. Block, Member 

 
 

 
             
      F. Kenneth Eichwald, Member 

 
       

       
             
      Dr. JF. Holden-Rhodes 

 
 

       
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Y:\dox\client\84943\0021\GENERAL\W2967514.DOC 



Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Item Summary

   
Regular Meeting
Meeting Date: 10/19/2017  
Requestor: Maria Encinias, Administration
Commissioner Sponsored: No  
District: 
Agenda: 

Information
Action Requested:
Request for a Motion to Adopt Resolution No. 10-19-17.9B Establishing the Legislative
Policy and Capital/Funding Requests for Sandoval County.

Why Action Is Necessary (Summary):
In preparation for the upcoming Legislative Session, this resolution identifies legislative
policy and capital projects.  The capital projects that the County would like to get funded
were approved through the County's ICIP process.

Recommendations:
Recommend Board of Commissioners Approval.

Recommended Approval:
 

Department
Director/Elected

Official

Attorney
As to Form

County
Manager

Other

---------- ---------- DM
10/12/17 ----------

Attachments
RESOLUTION NO. 10-19-17.9B 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 10-19-17.9B 
 
 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING LEGISLATIVE POLICY AND CAPITAL/FUNDING 
REQUESTS FOR SANDOVAL COUNTY FOR THE FIFTY-FOURTH, FIRST SESSION, 

LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF NEW MEXICO 

 
 
 
LEGISLATIVE POLICY: 

1. Monitor any legislation that: (a) proposes any revenue reductions; (b) adversely affects funding 

sources; or (c) diminishes the County’s regulatory authority. 

2. Support the initiatives derived from individual county divisions.  

3. Monitor any proposed changes to the Inspection of Public Records Act and Open Meetings Act and 

determine if any proposed changes will negatively impact the County. 

4. Monitor any legislation that impacts the tribes and pueblos in Sandoval County including any proposed 

changes to the Tribal Infrastructure Fund. 

5. Monitor any legislation affecting Community Health, Senior Services, and DWI and Prevention 

funding. 

6. Support our municipalities’ capital outlay projects. 

7. Support the 2018 NMAC Legislative Priorities as approved by the NMAC Board of Directors as 

follows: 

 Forfeiture Act Reform 

Support legislation that would correct the unintended consequences of the 2015 amendments to the NM 

Forfeiture Act to address federal equitable sharing, storage of abandoned property, and expand local 

authority to seize and dispose of forfeited property while preserving due process protections. 

 Protecting County Funding of Healthcare 
Support the significant involvement of county policy makers in federal, state, and local healthcare, 

human services, and Medicaid planning, funding, and service delivery decision- making, and oppose 

any measure that would further shift federal and state healthcare costs to county government. 

 Tax Reform 

Support legislation that protects county revenue and does not have a negative impact on county 

government.  NMAC strongly believes that counties must be at the table for and fully participate in all tax 

reform efforts; strives to minimize tax policy that places counties and other local governments in conflict; 



and opposes any efforts that reduce the state’s hold harmless distribution to counties or that reduces 

county GRT authority.   

 Local Election Act 

Support legislation that would enact the Local Election Act, aligning the date for local, non-partisan 

elections with taxation authority, to the same day in the odd-numbered year. 

 Extend 2014 HB16 Liquor Tax Distribution Sunset  

Support legislation that would permanently increase the distribution percentage to the local DWI grant 

fund. 

 

CAPITAL/FUNDING REQUESTS: 

 
1 

 
Detention Center Security 

 
$1,000,000 

 
2 

Paseo Del Volcan  
$1,000,000 

 
3 

Offsite Facility for Data Protection  
$112,000 

 
4 

Communication for First 
Responders 

 
$2,500,000 

 
5 

County Road 11 Bridge 
Replacement 

 
$450,000 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of County Commissioners, the governing body of 

Sandoval County, that the legislative program described herein for the Fifty-Fourth, First Session, 

Legislature of the State of New Mexico is hereby approved and adopted this ____day of October 2017. 

 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

       OF SANDOVAL COUNTY 

 
 
       ___________________________________ 
       Don Chapman, Chair 
 
       ___________________________________ 
ATTEST:      Dave Heil, Vice Chair 

 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Eileen Garbagni, County Clerk   Dr. J. F. Holden-Rhodes, Member 
 
       ___________________________________ 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:    Jay Block, Member 

 
__________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Heather Smallwood, Asst. County Attorney  Ken Eichwald, Member 



Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Item Summary

   
Regular Meeting
Meeting Date: 10/19/2017  
Requestor: Maria Encinias, Administration
Commissioner Sponsored: No  
District: 
Agenda: 

Information
Action Requested:
Request for a Motion to Adopt Resolution No. 10-19-17.10  Designating the Polling
Places for the 2018 Primary and General Elections

Why Action Is Necessary (Summary):
The Statues of the State of New Mexico, Section 1-3-2 (1978) requires that no later than
the first Monday, in November of each odd-numbered year, the Board of County
Commissioners shall by resolution designate, create, consolidate Precincts and Polling
Location

Recommendations:
Recomend Approval

Recommended Approval:
 

Department
Director/Elected

Official

Attorney
As to Form

Finance
Budget

County
Manager

Other

EG
10/11/17

HRS
10/11/17 ---------- DM

10/12/17 ----------

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Polling Locations Presentation 
Voting Convenience Centers and Number of Sites 
RESOLUTION NO. 10-19-17.10 



































 
 

SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 10-19-17.10 
 

 
A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING THE POLLING PLACES 
FOR THE 2018 PRIMARY AND GENERAL ELECTIONS 

 
WHEREAS, the New Mexico Statutes Annotated 1978 1-3-2 (2011) requires that no later than 
the first Monday in November of the odd-numbered year, the Board of County Commissioners 
shall by resolution designate polling places; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County Clerk has prepared the attached exhibits that designate polling places in 
Sandoval County for the 2018 Primary and General Elections; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners finds that the polling places enumerated in 
attached exhibits provide individuals with physical mobility limitations unobstructed access to 
at least one (1) voting machine; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners finds that each polling place designated in the 
exhibits comply with the provisions of NMSA 1978 1-3-7 (2011), titled Polling Places; and 
 
WHEREAS, “Exhibits A” and “Exhibit B”, attached hereto, designate a mix of convenience 
centers and Rural/Traditional precincts in accordance with NMSA 1978 1-3-4 (2011); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners finds that those precincts that are consolidated 
to create Voting Convenience Centers and referred to in Exhibit A, meet the requirements of 

NMSA 1978 1-3-4 (2011), will be available to voters of any precinct in the county to cast a vote 
at the Voting Convenience Center, will make voting more convenient and accessible to voters of 

the consolidated precinct, will not result in delays for voters in the voting process, and are 
centrally located within the consolidated precinct; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners finds that those precincts referred to in Exhibit 
B are Rural/Traditional Precincts pursuant to NMSA 1978 1-3-4 (D) (6) (2011), permitting the 

voters of those precincts the option of voting in their precinct on election day or in a Voting 
Convenience Center. 

 



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of County Commissioners hereby 

designates the polling places for the 2018 Primary and General Election as enumerated in 
Exhibit A and Exhibit B attached hereto. 

 
 

 
APPROVED, ADOPTED AND PASSED THIS _______  DAY OF OCTOBER, 2017. 

 
       BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  
       SANDOVAL COUNTY 
 
        
       _______________________________ 
       Don G. Chapman, Chair 
ATTEST: 

        

       _______________________________ 
____________________________   David J. Heil, Vice Chair 
Eileen Garbagni, County Clerk 
        
       _______________________________ 
       Jay C. Block, Member 
 
       
       _______________________________ 
       F. Kenneth Eichwald, Member 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

       _______________________________ 
____________________________   James F. Holden-Rhodes, Member 

Heather Smallwood,  
Assistant County Attorney 



Sandoval County Board of County Commissioners
Agenda Item Summary

   
Regular Meeting
Meeting Date: 10/19/2017  
Requestor: Roseanne Varela, Public Works
Commissioner Sponsored: No  
District: N/A - Not Commissioner Sponsored
Agenda: 

Information
Action Requested:
Approval to Publish and Post the  Environmental Solid Waste Ordinance Amending
Ordinance No. 03-11-16.16A to Accept Household Waste Collections in the
Unincorporated Areas of Sandoval County.

Why Action Is Necessary (Summary):
Commission approved the acceptance of Household Waste Collection for the
Unincorporated Areas of Sandoval County,

Recommendations:
Recommend Approval

Recommended Approval:
 

Department
Director/Elected

Official

Attorney
As to Form

County
Manager

Other

TM
10/12/17

HRS
10/12/17

DM
10/12/17 ----------

Attachments
SOLID WASTE ORDINANCE 



 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  
OF SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO  

ORDINANCE NO.  
 
 
 AN ORDINANCE, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 03-11-16.16A ENVIRONMENTAL 
SOLID WASTE ORDINANCE OF SANDOVAL COUNTY, FOR THE ACCEPTANCE OF 
THE HOUSEHOLD WASTE COLLECTION OF THE UNINCORPORATED AREA OF 
SANDOVAL COUNTY.  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS OF SANDOVAL COUNTY, NEW MEXICO: 

 

 Chapter 14 - ENVIRONMENT 
 ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL 

 

 Secs. 14-1—14-18. - Reserved. 

 ARTICLE II. - NUISANCES 

 

 Sec. 14-19. - Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Abandoned vehicle means a motor vehicle which has remained for more than 48 hours in the 
condition described by one of the following: 

(1) 

Without license plates or temporary registration conspicuously displayed thereon; or  

(2) 

With license plates which have an expiration date more than 90 days prior to the date of 
inspection. 

Blight or blighted means unsightly conditions, including, but not limited to, the accumulation of 
debris; fences characterized by holes, breaks, rot, crumbling, cracking, peeling or rusting; 



landscaping that is dead, characterized by uncontrolled growth or lack of maintenance, or is 
damaged; and any other similar conditions of disrepair and deterioration, regardless of other 
properties in the area. 

Commercial Solid Waste Collection means a ll solid waste collection from business     
establishments and multiple-family dwellings with containers that are 3 cubic yards or larger.   

Commercial solid waste contractor. 

(1) 

The term "commercial solid waste contractor" means any person transporting solid waste for 
hire by whatever approved means for the purpose of transfer, processing, storing or 
disposing of the solid waste in a solid waste facility. 

(2) 

The term "commercial solid waste contractor" does not include an individual transporting 
solid waste generated on or from one's residential premises for the purpose of disposing 
of it in a solid waste facility. 

 

Construction and demolition (C&D) debris. 

(1) 

The term "construction and demolition (C&D) debris" means materials generally considered 
water insoluble and nonhazardous in nature, including, but not limited to, steel, glass, 
brick, concrete, asphalt, roofing materials, pipe, gypsum wallboard and lumber from the 
construction or destruction of a structure, and includes rocks, soil, tree remains, trees 
and other vegetative matter that normally results from land clearing. 

(2) 

If debris is mixed with any other types of solid waste, it loses its classification as C&D 
debris. 

(3) 

Construction and demolition debris does not include asbestos or liquids, including, but not 
limited to, waste paints, solvents, sealers, adhesives or potentially hazardous materials.  

        County manager means the county manager or designated representative. 

         Contract Agreement refers to a binding agreement between the county and a 
contractor/ hauler that was selected through a statutory procurement process and engaged in the 
business of collection of residential solid waste and/or recyclables in the unincorporated areas of 
Sandoval County, excluding Placitas, setting forth terms, conditions and duration of the exclusive 
franchise collection contract. 

Debris means any substance of little or no apparent economic value, including, but not limited 
to, deteriorated lumber, old newspapers, furniture parts, stoves, sinks, cabinets, household 
fixtures, refrigerators, car parts, abandoned or neglected equipment, or the scattered remains of 
.items. 

Deterioration means the condition or appearance of a building or structure, or part thereof, 
characterized by holes, breaks, rot, crumbling, cracking, peeling, rusting or other evidence of 
physical decay, neglect, or lack of maintenance. 



Dispose or disposal means the causing, allowing, or maintaining the abandonment, 
discharge, deposit, placement, injection, dumping, spilling, or leaking of any solid waste into or on 
any land or water. 

Exclusive Residential Franchise Hauler refers to the company contracted by the County of 
Sandoval through a statutory procurement process to provide exclusive residential solid waste 
collection services to the unincorporated areas of Sandoval County, excluding Placitas, in such that 

the contracted hauler is the only hauler authorized to provide such residential collection services in 
the prescribed areas. 

 

Exposed to public view means any premises or any building, or any part thereof, which may 
be lawfully viewed by the public or any member thereof from the sidewalk, street, alleyway, or 
open-air parking lot, or from any adjoining or neighboring premises. 

Fire hazard means anything or act which may increase or may cause any increase of the 
hazard or menace of fire to a greater degree than that customarily recognized as normal by the 

fire marshal's office, or which may obstruct, delay or hinder the prevention, suppression or 
extinguishments of fire. 

Garbage means animal and vegetable wastes resulting from the handling, preparation, 
cooking, and consumption of food. 

Health hazard means the presence of any items which adversely impact or jeopardize the 
well-being or health of an individual. Such items include human waste, medical or biological waste, 
sharp objects, gas use or combustible liquids, radioactive waste, dangerous or corrosive 
chemicals or liquids, flammable or explosive materials, asbestos, offal and decayed matter.  

Household waste means any solid waste, including garbage and trash derived from 
households, including single and multiple residences, domiciles, campgrounds, picnic grounds and 

day-use recreation areas. 

Infestation means the apparent presence of unpleasant, damaging or unhealthy insects, 
rodents, reptiles or pests. 

Inoperable vehicle means any motor vehicle that by reason of dismantling, disrepair or other 
reasons is incapable of being propelled under its own power.  

Litter means decaying or non-decaying solid or semisolid waste, including, but not limited to, 
both combustible or noncombustible waste, such as paper, trash, cardboard, waste material, cans, 
yard clippings, wood, glass, bedding, discarded appliances, discarded furniture, dry vegetation, 
dead or diseased trees, and piles of earth mixed with any of the above foreign objects, including 
inoperable vehicles. 

Lot means a parcel or tract of land, platted or placed on the county clerk's record in 
accordance with applicable laws and ordinances, generally as a port ion of a subdivision intended 
for development purposes, including public rights-of-way. 

Multiple Family Dwelling is a classification of housing where multiple separate housing units 
for residential inhabitants are contained within one building or several buildings within one 
complex. This classification does not include mobile home parks or multiple individual homes on 
one property. 



Open burning means the combustion of solid waste without: 

(1) 

Control of combustion air to maintain adequate temperature for efficient combustion;  

(2) 

Containment of the combustion reaction in an enclosed device to provide sufficient time  and 
mixing for complete combustion; and 

(3) 

Control of the emission of the combustion products. 

Owner means the property owner, whether or not residing on said premises.  

Person means any natural person or any firm, partnership, association, corporation, 
company, or organization of any kind. 

Premises means an improved or unimproved structure, designed for private or commercial 
use. 

Public nuisance means creating, performing or maintaining anything without lawful authority 

that may affect any citizen which is either injurious to public health, safety or welfare, or interferes 
with the exercise or enjoyment of a public right, including the right to use public property.  

Public place means any land owned by the community (or open to common use) such as 
streets, sidewalks, boulevards, alleys, arroyos or other public ways and any and all public parks, 
spaces, grounds and buildings. 

   Residential Collection is refuse collected from a single dwelling or mobile home park not 
otherwise classified as commercial collection.  

Refuse means, but is not limited to, all solid waste including ashes, wastes or unwholesome 
material or any kind, street cleanings, dead animals, abandoned motor vehicles, vehicle parts and 
solid market and industrial waste. 

Responsible party means the owner of any premises, whether vacant, improved or 
unimproved, used primarily for either residential, private or business purposes.  

Rubbish means and includes, but is not limited to, all solid wastes, both combustible and 
noncombustible, such as paper, cardboard, cans, wood, yard clippings, leaves, dirt, glass, 
bedding, crockery, and similar materials. 

Site means a lot or combination of lots held in single ownership and requiring solid waste 
collection service. If several adjacent lots are owned by a developer at the time of building permit 
issuance, they will be considered separate sites. 

Solid waste means, but is not limited to, any garbage, litter, refuse, rubbish, special waste, 
appliances, inoperable vehicles and other discarded materia ls originating from residential, 

business or industrial sources. 

Storage means the accumulation of solid waste for the purpose of processing or disposal.  

Structure means a structure at least six feet in height and tall enough to eliminate the public's 
view, including neighbors, of the interior and meets all applicable building codes.  



Yard refuse means vegetative matter resulting from landscaping, land maintenance and land 
clearing operations. 

Zoning ordinance means the current county zoning ordinances, found in appendix A to this 
Code. 

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 1, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-20. - Penalty. 

(a) 

Any person convicted of a violation of the provisions of this article or any regulation 
promulgated hereunder shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be subject to a penalty up 
to the maximum penalty allowed by state statute. Each day such violation is committed or 
permitted to continue shall be considered a separate offense and shall be punished as such.  

(b) 
It shall be a violation of this chapter to remove solid waste or recyclable material deposited 
for collection from public or private property except as provided herein.   Any containers 
provided by the contractor shall be utilized for the purpose intended as provided in this 
chapter. Any private hauler, other than the exclusive residential franchise hauler, found to be 
providing residential collection services in the unincorporated areas of Sandoval County, 
excluding Placitas, will be subject to penalties as described in section C.3 of this chapter  
and/or Hauler may be reported to New Mexico Environmental, Solid Waste Bureau for 

violation of this ordinance.  

. 

   (c)   

It shall be a violation of this chapter for any person, firm or corporation to neglect, refuse to 

comply with, or resist the enforcement of any provision thereof. Violators of any provision of this 
chapter shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor; and upon conviction thereof, shall be 
punished by 90 days in jail for each separate offense and/or a fine as follows:  

 

      (1)    

Not exceeding $1,000 for discarding or disposing of solid waste, litter or garbage on public or 
private property in any manner other than by disposing it in accordance with this chapter; or  

 

      (2)    

Not exceeding $5,000 for the improper or illegal disposal of hazardous waste in any manner 
other than as provided in this chapter; or 

 

      (3)   

$300 per occurrence for violation of any other provision of this chapter.   It is possible that 
multiple penalties could accrue per day depending upon the circumstance.  

 

 

 

(d) 

The director of county planning and zoning or his designee and the code enforcement officers 
shall enforce this article, as shall deputies of the county sheriff's department. Such 



enforcement shall include the inspection of premises, the issuance of violat ions and the 
issuance of citations. 

(e) 

It shall be unlawful and a violation of this article for the owner, builder, agent, lessee or 
occupant of any lot within the described area of the county to allow solid waste or debris to 
accumulate upon such property or to allow materials to accumulate and in any way become 
hazardous or injurious to public health or to obstruct pedestrian or vehicular traffic. Any 
responsible party who causes, permits, facilitates or aids or abets any violation of any 
provision of this article shall be subject to enforcement as stated herein. 

(f) 

Any person violating the provisions of this article may be issued a notice of violation or a 
citation to magistrate court. 

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 13, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-21. - Exterior premises—Vacant land; maintenance standards. 

(a) 

General land. All land, including exterior premises and vacant land, whether improved or 
unimproved, shall be maintained free from any accumulation of debris or blight, which 
includes, but is not limited to, graffiti on walls, fences or mail boxes, accumulation of litter, 
rubbish, refuse, waste material, bottles, paper, glass, cans, organic or inorganic material, 
inoperable or disabled vehicles, piles of mixed material, dry vegetation, rags, empty barrels, 
boxes, crates, packing cases, mattresses, bedding, lumber not neatly piled, lumber stored in 

front yards, scrap iron, tin and other metal not neatly piled, or anything whatsoever in which 
insects, rodents, snakes or other harmful pests may live, breed or multip ly or which may 
otherwise create a health hazard. 

(b) 

Stored materials. It shall be unlawful to accumulate and store building material, lumber, 
boxes, cartons or other containers, machinery, scrap metal, junk, raw material, fabricated 
goods and other items in such manner as to constitute a public nuisance or rodent 

harborage. 

(c) 

Exterior insect, rodent and animal control. All premises shall be kept free from insect and 
rodent infestation and other noxious pests. This provision shall not require action to disturb 
the natural activity of bees, rabbits, or other insects and animals where such activity is not a 
danger or nuisance to any residents of the area and where other applicable legal 

requirements are met. 

(d) 

Drainage. All premises shall be maintained so as to prevent the accumulation of stagnant 
water when such water causes a hazardous or unhealthy condition or becomes a breeding 
area for insects. 

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 2, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-22. - Same—Storage of inoperable or abandoned vehicles. 

(a) 

Outdoor storage of inoperable or abandoned vehicles or parts thereof on the premises is 

prohibited. Inoperable or abandoned vehicles may only be stored on the premises within a 



building or enclosure so as not to be visible from any adjoining property or public road. 
Vehicles shall not be used for storage or other purposes unless enclosed within a building or 
solid fence on the premises. 

(b) 

Exceptions. 

(1) 

This section shall not apply in an area where such activity is within the contemplated 
purposes of a duly licensed business with the appropriate zoning, or where such 

vehicles are kept in an enclosed structure, or when vehicles are owned and actively 
being restored if within the last 30 days the owner has spent at least ten hours of labor 
in repairing, rebuilding or reconstruction of a motor vehicle. The burden shall be on the 
owner of the vehicle to prove that it is being actively restored, which may include 
receipts for the purchase of parts and supplies during the last 30 days which have been 
installed on the vehicle. 

(2) 

Any person, being owner or tenant, may store, permit to be stored or allow to remain 
upon his residential premises any dismantled, partially dismantled or inoperative motor 
vehicle, or parts thereof, for a period not to exceed one month, if such motor vehicle is 
registered in the resident's name. 

(3) 

One inoperable or abandoned vehicle may be stored upon property within the county 
when not within a wholly enclosed structure, if fully covered and placed in the side or 
back yard. Any such vehicle must be at least five feet from any property line and at least 
five feet from any permanent structure. 

(c) 

Extension. Any person violating this section may, in the event of hardship, request an 

extension of this article's compliance period by a written request to the planning and zoning 
director or his designee. 

(d) 

This section shall not be construed to permit the parking or placement of inoperable or 
abandoned motor vehicles on any public street. Placement of inoperable or abandoned 
vehicles on any public street is subject to enforcement by the county sheriff's department or 

by the county planning and zoning department. 

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 3, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-23. - Same—Antilitter. 

(a) 

Litter in public places. No person shall throw or deposit litter in or upon any street, sidewalk, 
or other public place within the area except in public receptacles, which are approved for 
collection or at a state approved sanitary landfill. 

(b) 

Placement of litter in receptacles so as to prevent scattering. Persons placing litter in public 
receptacles or in authorized private receptacles shall do so in such manner as to prevent it 

from being carried or deposited by the elements or by animals upon any public or private 
place. Receptacles shall not be placed or positioned in a manner which may constitute a 
public nuisance or obstruction. 

(c) 



Unlawful dumping or disposal of solid waste. It shall be unlawful to dispose of solid waste in 
any manner other than as specified section in 14-24. 

(1) 

Unlawful to dump in arroyo, stream, bed, drainage ditch, fountains or body of water.  It 
shall be unlawful for any person to place or dump solid waste or debris in any arroyo, 
stream bed, drainage ditch, public fountain or any public body of water within the 
boundaries of the county. 

(2) 

Dumping on property. It shall be unlawful for any person to place or dump solid waste or 
debris on any property within the county, whether owned by such person or not.  

(3) 

Securing vacant lots. Vacant lots or lands which have been the subject of repeated 
dumping shall be secured to prevent future occurrences of dumping. Methods of 
securing vacant lots or lands must be approved and may include permanent fencing, 

ditch or berm, or placement of four-foot-high posts at four-foot intervals. Signs stating 
"No Dumping" shall be erected in accordance with applicable ordinances on vacant 
lands which have been subject to dumping on more than one occasion. 

(d) 

Transportation of solid waste. No person shall drive or move any vehicle within the county 
that has been loaded with solid waste unless such solid waste is covered or securely loaded 

in such a manner to prevent littering. 

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 4, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-24. - Dumping, accumulating and scattering of solid waste. 

(a) 

Dumping. No person shall discard solid waste anywhere outdoors within the boundaries of 
this area except at a time and place approved for collection of that person's solid waste. No 
person shall place solid waste in the solid waste receptacle of another person without 
permission. 

(b) 

Unauthorized accumulation. It shall be unlawful to allow any solid waste to collect or 

accumulate on any lot or other premises within the area. Any such unauthorized 
accumulation or collection is hereby declared to be a nuisance and is prohibited.  

(c) 

Scattering of solid waste. No person shall cast, place, sweep, or deposit anywhere in the 
area any solid waste in such a manner that it may be carried or deposited by the elements 
upon any street, sidewalk, parkway, sewer, ditch, arroyo, other public place, vacant lot, or 

into any premises within the county. 

(d) 

Accumulation of C&D debris. Debris resulting from construction or demolition of structures 
may be collected within an active construction site if and only if the solid waste is contained in 
such a manner that it will not be carried or deposited by the elements upon any street, 
sidewalk, parkway, sewer, ditch, arroyo, other public place, vacant lot, or into any premises 

within the county. 

(e) 

Burden of proof. In the event any person's name or other identification is affixed or found on 
any illegally disposed of solid waste or rubbish, such evidence shall constitute prima facie 

https://library.municode.com/nm/sandoval_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CD_ORD_CH14EN_ARTIINU_S14-24DUACSCSOWA


evidence and presumptive proof of a violation of this article; the burden of proof to establish a 
non-violation of this article shall be on such person. 

(f) 

Accumulation for recycling. Notwithstanding other provisions of this article, any person may 
accumulate and collect recyclable materials for the purpose of recycling it, provided that any 
collection point: 

(1) 

Conforms to zoning articles and regulations; 

(2) 

Is not on public right-of-way; 

(3) 

Is constructed so that the rubbish is contained at the collection point in compliance with 
subsection (d) of this section; 

(4) 

Is shielded from public view; and 

(5) 

Is registered with or permitted by NMED as a recycling facility. 

(g) 

Notice of violation. Any such person who violates any provisions of this article shall be issued 
a notice of violation. If the person fails to remedy violation within the specified time, then the 
county will require corrective action be started at the site immediately at the expense of the 
owner, and charge a lien on the property if payment is not received within 30 days of receipt 
of billing. 

(h) 

Urgent work. If, in the judgment of the county manager or his designee, safety or public 
health is at risk, or the public interest requires that a site be cleaned rapidly, the county may 
require the owner to employ sufficient manpower supplied by the owner to clean the site 
within 24 hours. If the person fails to remedy the violation within the specified time, then the 
county will require corrective action be started at the site immediately, at the expense of the 
owner, and may place a lien on the property to recover the actual cleanup costs.  

(i) 

Inspection. The county manager or his designee may make such inspections as are 
reasonably necessary in the enforcement of this section. 

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 5, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-25. - Burning of garbage. 

No garbage, solid waste, or debris shall be burned within the county. Fire permits may be obtained 

by the county fire marshal's office for certain types of yard refuse. 

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 6, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-26.- Solid Waste Collection Practices in the Unincorporated 
Areas of Sandoval County, Excluding Placitas.  
(a)    Non-mandatory exclusive residential collection services. 
      (1)    

Sandoval County the County finds that it is expedient and in the best interest of the County 
to award an eight-year, exclusive franchise agreement for the provision of an exclusive 



comprehensive solid waste program in the unincorporated areas of Sandoval County 
excluding Placitas. This ordinance and the corresponding Agreement exclude any hauler, 
except for the Contractor, from providing residential solid waste collection services in the 
unincorporated areas of Sandoval County, excluding Placitas, beginning January 1, 2018, at 
which time Section 14.20 (c) 3 of this Ordinance becomes applicable to the Agreement 
referenced in this Section.           

 
(2)   

Commercial solid waste collection in the unincorporated areas of Sandoval County shall 
remain open market and is excluded from the residential exclusive franchise agreement.     

 
(b)   Frequency of solid waste collection. 
 
      (1)    

Residential solid waste collection.  Solid waste accumulated by residences participating in 
the roadside waste collection program shall be collected at such times and frequency as 

deemed necessary by the County Manager and as provided in the collection schedule 
submitted to the County Manager by the exclusive residential hauler.   

(2)   Commercial solid waste collection.   

Hotels, restaurants, other establishments and businesses, and institutions, multiple -family 
dwellings, excluding mobile home parks, receiving commercial solid waste collection service, 
as deemed necessary, may enter into an agreement for greater frequency of collection with 
an open-market, private commercial hauler.   

(a)  

The County Manager shall have the authority to require that more frequent collections 
be made where necessary to protect the public health. 

         (b)    
All commercial solid waste containers are to be accessible between the hours of 4:00 
a.m. and 8:00 p.m., or as otherwise designated by the County Manager.  
 

      (3)    
No solid waste collection vehicles shall collect solid waste within 200 feet of a school site 
within a half hour of school opening or closing for the day. 
 

   (c)   Limitations of quantity. 
 
       (1)    

Residential solid waste collection.  In residential areas designated for exclusive collection 
services, the Contractor shall collect the solid waste of each residence during a collection 
period for a standard charge.  Any excessive accumulation, as determined by the Contractor, 
may require a special collection at an additional fee or the provision of an additional 
contractor-provided solid waste container.   
 

      (2)   Commercial solid waste collection.   

Any excess accumulation outside the designated contracted container shall be 
prohibited.  The solid waste must not exceed the container capacity and the solid waste 
container lid must be closed at all times except when disposal is occurring.    
 

   (d)   Special and hazardous waste. 
 
      (1)    



Infectious waste.  Wearing apparel, bedding, solid waste or other infectious or contagious 
material from homes, hospitals nursing homes, or other places where highly infectious or 
contagious diseases have prevailed shall not be placed in containers for regular 
collection.  The producers of such solid waste shall immediately notify the County Manager, 
who shall provide technical assistance on proper collection and disposal of such material, at 
the expense of the owner or possessor thereof.   

 
      (2)   Hazardous waste.   

Hazardous waste shall not be collected, transported or disposed of unless in full compliance 
with local, state and federal regulations regarding transportation and disposal. Hazardous 
waste material shall not be placed in containers for regular collection and disposal.  The 
producers or possessors of such material shall immediately notify the County Manager, who 
shall provide technical assistance on the proper collection and disposal of such material, at 
the expense of the owner or possessor thereof.  The County further reserves the right to 
prohibit the disposal of hazardous waste within the unincorporated areas of the county.    
 

(e) Service Fees 
    
      (1)    

Residential service fees for collection of solid waste in designated non-mandatory exclusive 
service areas in the unincorporated areas of Sandoval County, excluding Placitas, shall be 
established and adopted through an Agreement by the Board of County Commissioners 
and the exclusive residential franchise hauler. The property owner shall be responsible for 
payment of fees for collection services within designated exclusive service areas, should 
such property owners choose to subscribe to the non-mandatory residential solid waste 
collection services.  

 
      (2)    

Commercial service fees.  Hotels, restaurants, other establishments and businesses, 
institutions, and multiple-unit dwellings, excluding mobile home parks, receiving commercial 
solid waste collection service, including construction and demolition collection in a 
designated service area shall have service fees as charged by the open market hauler and 
based on the type and frequency of service, and the volume of the solid waste container.    
 

   (f)   Use of county convenience centers or transfer stations.     
 

(1)    
Any residential or business producer of solid waste, including county residents, may 
dispose of solid waste at any county convenience center.  Fees for use of the convenience 
center or transfer station will be established by the Contract Agreement as established by 
the contracted operator of any county-owned convenience center or transfer station. 

      (2)    
Salvaging and scavenging is prohibited at the county convenience centers or transfer 
stations at all times. 

 Sec. 14-276. - Public nuisance. 

It is unlawful to commit a public nuisance. The term "public nuisance" consists of knowingly 
creating, performing, or maintaining anything affecting any number of citizens without lawful 
authority which is either injurious to public health, safety, morals, or welfare, or interferes with th e 
exercise and enjoyment of public rights, including the right to use public property.  



(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 7, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-287. - Nuisance declared. 

(a) 

Definitions. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this section, shall have  the 
meanings ascribed to them in this subsection, except where the context clearly indicates a 
different meaning: 

Dismantled or partially dismantled vehicle means any motor vehicle from which some part or 
parts which are ordinarily a component thereof have been removed or are missing. 

Inoperative or inoperable motor vehicle means any motor vehicle which, by reason of 

dismantling, disrepair, or other cause, is incapable of being propelled under its own power.  

Motor vehicle means any wheeled vehicle which is self-propelled or intended to be self-
propelled. 

(b) 

Prohibited accumulations. In the interest of the inhabitants of the area, it is necessary to 
prohibit the accumulation of junk, trash, and refuse on property within the area by declaring 
such accumulation a nuisance. The following are hereby declared to be a public nuisance:  

(1) 

Unoccupied premises. It shall be unlawful for any reason for any person to sweep, 
place, or throw solid waste or other waste materials in or upon any sidewalk, street, 
alley, or unoccupied premises. 

(2) 

Unsanitary premises. It shall be unlawful for any person to permit or cause to remain in 
or about his premises any solid waste, weeds, motor vehicles not in operating condition, 
wastewater or any conglomeration of residue thereof which emits odors or serves as a 
feeding or breeding place for flies, insects or rodents. The accumulation of building 
materials, pipes, lumber, or boxes may be maintained on said premises if said 
accumulation is evenly piled and stacked for a reasonable length of time. 

(3) 

Hazardous premises. It shall be unlawful for any person to permit in or about his 
premises weeds, briars, brush, or any other solid waste to become in any way 
hazardous or injurious to public health or to obstruct pedestrian and vehicular traffic. 

(4) 

Obstruction of fire protection equipment. No person shall place or keep any post, fence, 
vehicle, growth, trash storage, or other material or thing near any fire hydrant, fire 
department connection or fire protection system control valve that would prevent such 
equipment or hydrant from being immediately discernible or in any other manner deter 
or hinder the firefighters from gaining immediate access to said equipment or hydrant.  

(5) 

Accumulation of solid waste. 

a. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to allow any solid waste to accumulate upon 
premises owned, leased, rented or occupied by him during intervals between 
collections thereof, except in the manner herein provided. 

b. 



It shall be unlawful to deposit any solid waste in or upon the streets, alleys, 
sidewalks, gutters, curbing, storm sewers, parkways, or vacant lots within the area 
except in the manner and in the receptacles or containers as provided in 
subsection (b)(6) of this section. 

(6) 

Solid waste receptacles. All solid waste receptacles shall be maintained in a clean and 
sanitary condition by the owner or person using the receptacle and such receptacles 
shall be located only in such places as shall be readily accessible for removing and 
emptying the same, but shall not be placed in such place or position as may constitute a 
nuisance or obstruction to vehicular or pedestrian traffic. 

(7) 

Outdoor vehicle storage; prohibited acts; exceptions. 

a. 

It is unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to store on, place on, or permit to 

be stored or placed on, or allowed to remain on any occupied or unoccupied land 
within the area limits, a dismantled, partially dismantled, not properly registered, or 
inoperative motor vehicle, or any parts of a motor vehicle, except in businesses and 
are kept in a wholly enclosed garage or structure. 

b. 

Exceptions. Any person, being owner or tenant, may store, permit to be stored or 

allow to remain upon his premises any dismantled, partially dismantled, or 
inoperative motor vehicles, or parts thereof, for a period not to exceed one week if 
such motor vehicle is registered in his name, provided that any such owner or 
tenant may, in the event of hardship, secure permission from the county to extend 
such period of time. 

(c) 

Applicability of section; parking of dismantled, inoperable vehicles restricted.  This section 
shall be construed as being supplementary to any sections of this article relating to rubbish, 
litter, or refuse, and shall not be construed to permit the parking or placing of dismantled, 
partially dismantled, or inoperable motor vehicles on any public street.  

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 8, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-298. - Notice of nuisance. 

Any county sheriff's officer, upon observing any violation of this article, shall issue a notice 
directed to the owner of record of the property on which the nuisance occurs, or to the occupant or 
tenant of the property, or both. The notice shall describe the violation and shall establish a 
reasonable time limit for abatement thereof by the owner occupant or tenants, which limit shall be 
not less than two days or more than 30 days after service of the notice. The notice may be served 
either personally or by registered mail at the owner's or occupant's last known address. 

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 9, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-3029. - Complaint. 

In the event the owner or occupant of the property where the nuisance violation of this article 
exists has failed, within the prescribed time, to abate the nuisance, then any law enforcement 
police officer shall file a compliant charging violation of this article with the magistrate court 



demanding that the owner of the property, or the occupant thereof, or both, be held to  answer to 
the court for the violation of this article. 

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 10, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-310. - Removal of nuisance. 

In the event that a person is convicted of violating this article and still refuses to remove the junk, 
trash or refuse, the county may enforce this article in any manner consistent with law. Should the 
person refuse or fail to pay the assessment, the county shall collect such assessment as provided 
by law. 

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 11, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-321. - Injunction. 

The county sheriff, when a nuisance exists as set forth in this article, may maintain a complaint in 

the name of the county, perpetually, to enjoin all persons from maintaining or permitting the 
nuisance and to abate the same. 

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 12, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 14-332. - Injunctive relief. 

The placement of solid waste which causes a nuisance or creates a potential or actual health 
hazard shall be deemed, or declared to be, a public nuisance and may be subject to abatement 
summarily by a restraining order or injunction issued by a court of competent jurisdiction.  

(Ord. No. 03-11-16.16A, § 14, 11-16-2003) 

 Sec. 12-31. - Fees.Chapter 16 - FIRE  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://library.municode.com/nm/sandoval_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CD_ORD_CH12EMSE_ARTIIALCO_S12-31FE
https://library.municode.com/nm/sandoval_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CD_ORD_CH12EMSE_ARTIIALCO_S12-31FE


ATTEST       BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
       SANDOVAL COUNTY 
 
________________________________   ________________________________ 
Eileen Garbagni, County Clerk    Don G. Chapman, Chair 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       David J. Heil, Vice-Chair 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:     
       ________________________________ 
       Jay C. Block, Member 
_______________________________ 
Heather R. Smallwood, County Attorney 
 
       _______________________________ 
       F. Kenneth Eichwald, Member 
 
 
        

_______________________________ 
       James F. Holden-Rhodes, Member 
       
 


	Agenda
	AI_564_Proclamation for Red Ribbon Week 10-23 to 10-31-17 
	ATT_Proclamation Red Ribbon Campaign
	ATT_Red Ribbon Events Schedule
	7.A._October 5, 2017 Reguar Meeting
	ATT_October 5, 2017 Reguar Meeting
	7.B._Budget Resolutions
	ATT_2017 Budget Resolutions (5)
	7.C._NM ALTSD Legislative Capital Outlay contract for the Bernalillo Senior Center parking lot
	ATT_State of NM ALTSD
	7.D._Approval to Surplus a 2008 Ford Econoline Club Wagon
	8.A._Motion to Adopt Oil and Gas Ordinance Draft
	ATT_Oil and Gas Journal Notice
	ATT_ORDINANCE NO. 10-19-17.8A
	8.B._Appoint Peter Adang (District 1) to the P&Z Commission 
	ATT_PJA Resume
	9.A._Sandoval County, New Mexico Energy Efficiency Lease-Purchase 
	ATT_Lease-Purchase Agreement 
	ATT_Escrow Agreement 
	ATT_RESOLUTION NO. 10-19-17.9A
	9.B._Legislative Policy and Capital_Funding Request
	ATT_RESOLUTION NO. 10-19-17.9B
	AI_566_2018 Poll Locations
	ATT_Polling Locations Presentation 
	ATT_Voting Convenience Centers and Number of Sites
	ATT_RESOLUTION NO. 10-19-17.10
	AI_568_Amendment of Solid Waste Ordinance
	ATT_SOLID WASTE ORDINANCE 

